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Introduction

“Faversham, a fair and flourishing sea-port town, giv-
ing title to an extensive hundred in the Lathe of Scray,
in the county of Kent, is situated on a navigable arm
of the Swale, in a fruitfull part of the county, nine
miles from Canterbury, and forty-seven from London”
(Edward Jacob, 1774, A History of Faversham).

Faversham, whose maritime development is the subject of
this study, was extremely fortunate in having an 18th-cen-
tury historian of Jacob’s stature to write comprehensively
on the town.

One theme which emerges from his work is the economic
prosperity to which Faversham had long been accustomed.
This prosperity had developed before the building of the
Abbey in 1174, and it only remained for the commercial
stimulus of the London agricultural food market, the mak-
ing of gunpowder, the development of brewing, and the
oyster fishery to enable Faversham to expand even further
in importance from the 16th to the 18th centuries.

And yet, apart from glimpses by Jacob, the extent of
that prosperity, and whether just based on Faversham’s
mercantile activity, was unknown The flesh to cover the
known bare bones of Faversham’s maritime history had as
yet to be ascertained. There is no comprehensive study of
Faversham’s port development after Jacob.

For the period under study (1580-1780) England was
relatively empty; its population in 1700 was barely 5 mil-
lion; millions of acres were waste heath, bog or fen (Pen-
nington, 1970: 61). Roads were worse than the Romans
had left them. The harvest was still the heartbeat of the
economy and industry fed off the soil: timber, hides, hops,
flax, madder, horn, bone, were among the essential raw
materials (Clark, 1947: 5). And most industry was cottage
industry: spinning, knitting, weaving, tanning, smithying.

Family life and work danced in step with the phases of
the agricultural year (Chambers and Mingay, 1966: 54).
Harvesting, fruit-picking, or fishing - work was seasonal.
And yet the critical watershed had been passed; people did
not starve en masse in England any more, grain was in-
creasingly being exported, shortages were brief, local and
usually of a particular crop, and the effect was cushioned
by the better transport by sea of supplies (Porter, 1982:
30-45).

Throughout the 18th century the principle highway of
England was the sea. Before canals or railways, and while
roads remained impassable, coastal shipping remained
the cheapest, safest and speediest means of conveying
freight. Hence ports were vital, not just for trade, but
also as nurseries of the Royal Navy, the fisheries, and the

whaling fleets. All of the front-rank towns of the kingdom
were either ports or had easy river access to the sea (Selley
1962: 199).

Besides the ships of the Royal Navy and merchantmen
trading overseas, there were large numbers of small craft
trafficking in the waters about Britain. “There are sup-
posed to be about eighteen hundred ships and vessels in
the coal trade and about nine hundred more in what they
call the Northern trade”, wrote a naval officer in 1774
(Ashton, 1924: 200).

North Kent was endowed with one passable road (Watling
Street) and numerous waterways. It possessed an exten-
sive coastline along the Thames south shore and to the
east, a navigable river from Sandwich to Fordwich (and
thence to Canterbury), and to the west the Medway River
from Rochester to Maidstone.

Fortuitously “the water transport was available where it
was most needed” (Thirsk 1967: 199). Contemporaries
were aware of this favourable circumstance, and noted
particularly “the benefits of water carriage (from Kent) to
and from the Metropolitical City, or Chief Mart” (Harris,
1719: 357).

Throughout the year coastal hoys operated a weekly
schedule from these North Kent ports, and Edward Jacob
described Faversham’s maritime activity in 1774:

“The principal trade now carried on from this port is by
six hoys, who go alternately every week to London, with
corn of all sorts, amounting, in very plentiful years, to forty
thousand quarters per annum. Colliers also, (which supply
the town, and the county round it with coals) of upwards of
a hundred tons burthen, and larger vessels, which import fir
timber of all kinds, and iron, from Polish Prussia, Norway,
and Sweden, frequently resort hither; the principal proprie-
tors or merchants being chiefly inhabitants of this town.
Here are also some other vessels employed in carrying wool,
apples, pears, and cherries, to London and other parts, in the
season” (Jacob, 1774: 66).

Jacob’s excellent history provides a sound spring-board
from which to study the previous and subsequent history
of the port and town. Edward Jacob wrote impressively
from first-hand experience about a prosperous and improv-
ing provincial port and town, and the publication in 1774
(when he was 64) of his History brought Faversham well
to the forefront of towns in north Kent.

Faversham was well-placed to take advantage of Eng-
land’s coastal maritime trade, and England, out of all
Europe, was well suited geographically for such coasting



trade, for it had more usable coastline than any other coun-
try. The twenty-one Head Ports of England, with their
Member Ports and creeks, formed a maritime spider’s
web with London at its centre. In 1768 Baldwin’s London
Directory, in its 11th edition, itemised some 580 places in
England and Wales to which goods could be sent by water.
Earlier, Griffiths in 1746 gave a list of London quays from
which goods could be shipped for the English counties,
and more than a century earlier, in 1637, Taylor gave simi-
lar directions in his Carriers Cosmographie.

All these guides emphasise the importance of London as a
centre of the coasting trade, but the extent of that influence
can only be gauged by the study of commodities shipped
to and from London and the outports. East coast ports felt
the influence of the metropolis market more than those
on the south and west coasts. Southampton and Bristol
received goods and trade from a large area and were local
centres of distribution, almost playing the role of London
in miniature.

Coal and agricultural produce provided the largest inward
shipments to London, but comprehensive figures of ship-
ments to London in the 18th century are not available, and
again it is only by studying the outport Port Books that an
estimate of shipments to London can be made. And esti-
mate it must be; before the 19th century record-keeping
was erratic and its reliability was not easy to test, and al-
though statistics may give shadow and depth to the picture,
they cannot paint it.

The economy of the period under study was truly agrarian:
it is widely accepted that “before the onset of modern in-
dustrial growth agriculture provided everywhere the major
source of subsistence and employment” (Moffit 1925: 22).
But, despite its agrarian base, early modern society was
changing from subsistence to commercial enterprises in
a way that “if gradual, was revolutionary” (Everitt 1965:
60-1). Some of the reasons were the increase in population
in London and the provinces, the expansion of agricultural
specialisation, and the improvement of all forms of trans-
port and communication.

Faversham was well placed on the “inner-ring road” of
the national maritime routes, which enabled it to take
advantage of its proximity to London and the continent.
However, its trading patterns, its size of maritime fleet, its
cargoes, seasonal or otherwise, were relatively unknown
and form a major part of this study.

Water transport was the most cost-effective method of
moving goods over any distance. Sir Robert Southwell
calculated that sea carriage was 20 times cheaper than
wheeled carriage (Birch, Royal Society, iii: 208).

This circulation of trade by sea was vital to the economic

life of the country, and to ignore “a principal source of
Britain’s wealth” is to ignore the development of that eco-
nomic life (Defoe, 1726: 54).

The carriage of coal by sea enabled the coal industry to de-
velop, and carriage by sea of corn and other commodities
allowed London to develop into the metropolis it became.
The influence of London’s food market on the economy of
south-east England is a debatable point, and only through
the study of outports, such as Faversham, will the issue
be resolved. N.J. Williams said in 1988, “the trade of the
outports is one of the most neglected aspects of England’s
commercial development” (Williams, 1988: 1).

London drew its commodities from a wide area, and as
London expanded a corresponding expansion of and im-
provement in water transport was essential.

Agriculture relied almost exclusively on the coasting trade
for the disposal of its produce. In Kent some 30 ports or
landing places served this market, and including the tidal
reaches of the Medway and Swale, very few places were
further than 15 miles from the sea.

Whilst land communications remained defective, this
large number of ports widely scattered around the Kent
coast was essential for dealing with the problems of in-
ternal transport. It is only when the railways in the mid-
19th century opened up the hinterland of these ports and
brought goods, as it were, to their back doors that their
coasting trade declined.

Faversham, second largest town of the region, and its chief
coastal port, showed a steady increase in population and
prosperity throughout the period under study. In the early
years of Elizabeth’s reign Faversham was already “well
peopled and flourished in wealth” (Lambarde, 1576: 231).
Celia Fiennes found “a very large town and good buildings
of bricks” when she visited Faversham in 1695 (Fiennes,
1696: 100).

In 1560 a Market Hall was built and in 1574 the hall be-
came the Guildhall. In 1635 a leaden pump was installed
in the Market Place at the north end of the Guildhall
where, throughout the period under study, a fish market
was located; the fish sellers were thereby afforded shelter
and there was “plenty of water near at hand, so necessary
to such a market.”

Fish was an important part of the post-medieval diet and
freshwater fish, caught from the rivers, brooks, ditches,
and ponds, the preferred fare. In Elizabethan literature,
reference to freshwater fish occurs more often than sea
fish, which when mentioned is usually either salted or
dried, and often regarded as rather poor food.



Fresh fish was for local consumption. Daniel Defoe par-
ticularly noted in 1724 what a hindrance the bad state of
the roads was to the transport and consumption of fish. He
enlarged upon the convenience that would follow such a
restoring of the ways for the carrying of fish from the sea
coasts to the inner parts of the kingdom, “where by reason
of the badness of the ways, they cannot now carry them
sweet.”

The oyster fishery of Faversham, “the only staple com-
modity of this town”, was controlled by the Company
of Dredgers and provided employment for more than a
hundred families. It was said that “a prodigious number
of men and boats are employed in winter dredging the
largest and best oysters for stewing”. Oysters in the 16th
century were being kept alive in brackish water for as long
as twelve days, and numerous country estates, although 80
miles from the sea, can attest to a frequent and continuous
supply of Faversham and Whitstable oysters. In 1783,
oysters were so cheap in London that for Hodge, the cat
belonging to Samuel Johnson, who was by no means afflu-
ent, Johnson “himself used to go out and buy oysters for
it”, implying that these in fact were the cheapest variety of
fish obtainable.

By the beginning of the 18th century the Dutch purchased
Faversham oysters each year valued at between £4,000
and £6,500. A quarter of a century later when Lord Harley
visited Faversham, lodging at the Ship Inn, he estimated
an annual turnover in the oyster trade of more than £7,000.
Exact figures are now available through the study of
Faversham’s Port Books, and paint a more comprehensive
picture.

Gunpowder, “that dreadful composition, hath continued to
be made upon our stream, ever since the reign of Queen
Elizabeth, if not before her time” (Jacob, 1774: 94).
The mills were purchased by the government in c.1759.
Weekly output in 1774, on the eve of another war, and
after considerable improvements, reached about 80 bar-
rels a week, each weighing 100lb (Jacob, 1774: 95).
Jacob observed that “there is never a want of hands, light
labour and constant pay makes it very beneficial to the
trading part of the town” (Jacob, 1774: 96). Apart from
the royal powder mills there were other works in private
hands making considerable quantities of gunpowder “for
the use of the East India Company, and other merchants”
(Jacob, 1774: 96-7). Through the study of the Port Books
and government letter books it has been possible to build
up a comprehensive study of this trade and, more to the
point, how the royal powder mills’ maritime activity fitted
in with the port of Faversham’s already established rules
and routines.

Grain crops played a prominent part in Faversham’s econ-
omy, a feature that owed a lot to the development of the

London food market. As early as the 16th century north
Kent shipped most of its wheat and oats through Faver-
sham. By the 18th century, wheat beans and barley were
the region’s leading crops (Baker, 1970b: 128). The bulk
of the barley was concentrated to the east of Canterbury.
Fields of wheat and beans dominated the landscape around
Faversham. In the 16th century the Faversham district
was recognised as “one of the most fruitfull partes of this
shyre” (Lambarde, 1576: 231). Arthur Young described
the “common husbandry about Faversham” noting that the
local farmers followed “the round tilth ... barley ... beans
... wheat ... which is the famous rotation of East Kent.”
John Banister, the Horton Kirby farmer, was likewise full
of approbation for the Kentish method of bean cultivation
on the rich loams around Faversham.

In 1559 the first sluice was built to scour the mud from
Faversham Creek, and Tudor Faversham became a major
corn exporting port sending grain to London, as well as an
important venue for the importation of London goods. It
built the second largest parish church in Kent, granaries,
warehouses, inns and market houses, a Guildhall, a paved
town centre by 1549, a grammar school, and a gunpow-
der manufactory. By 1580, the start date for this study,
Faversham’s population had reached about 1,500, with 73
officials administering the port.

Every shipmaster’s house had its own store and cellar
(Pearson, pers. corres. 1998). There was an efficient
Town Porter system with a standardised list of charges for
every commodity. The earliest list dates from 1448.1 As
Faversham developed, so did its hinterland transport sys-
tem: Ferries at Elmley, Ryde, Harty, and Nagden shipped
materials and livestock across the estuarine world that was
Faversham in the 16th and 17th centuries.

Canals, some 10 miles in length, were built for transport-
ing gunpowder by punt; tramways for brick and tile, drove
roads for sheep, and lighters to tranship cargoes from pass-
ing ships all added to the smooth running of the port.

In 1779 a general meeting of the merchants, in discussing
improvements to the creek said:

“We need not enlarge upon the general benefit of this meas-
ure to all the owners and occupiers of the fertile lands by
which Faversham is surrounded. The creek is in fact the
high road for their produce, and corn, hops, wool, fruit, and
flour and for all the valuable exports required for the con-
sumption of the town, and neighbourhood.”2

This “high road” led straight to London. In 1683 London
imported 316 cargoes from Faversham, more than were
imported from any other English port except Newcastle
(Willan, 1938: App 2). In 1728, only Newcastle, Sunder-
land, and Ipswich sent more ships to London than Faver-



sham. During the period from 1656 to 1688, Faversham
imported an annual average of 68 cargoes from London,
more than any other Kentish port.

The Customs Port of Faversham, as delimited by an Ex-
chequer Commission of 16763 included a large part of the
north Kent coast, stretching from the North Foreland in
the east to Faversham in the west. Three creeks or landing
places were within these limits, and under the customs ju-
risdiction of the port of Faversham: Reculver Herne, and
Whitstable. Faversham itself was a fully-fledged Customs
Port, with two legal quays for the unloading of foreign
merchandise, the Town Quay and Standard Quay.

Foreign trade almost disappeared in the period under
study. This lack of overseas commerce was probably due
to Faversham’s close proximity to London. Whatever corn
or other agricultural produce found its way abroad did so

only after being shipped first to London. Corn shipments
from Faversham to London rose from 15,905 quarters in
1598-99 to 31,213 quarters in 1699-1700.4

Another feature of the port was the considerable amount
of return trade with the capital. All the Kentish ports de-
pended on London to a certain extent for their trade, and it
is not surprising that nearly all their produce was sent by
hoy to and from London.

And yet, “the extent and nature of London’s coasting trade
in the 18th century must remain a matter largely of conjec-
ture” (Willan 1938: 145). The London Port Books from
1697 to 1799 were destroyed, and the single one5 that has
survived has no record of coastwise shipments. It is only
possible to reconstruct this trade by the detailed study of
the outports, and it is hoped that this study of the outport of
Faversham goes some way to redress the balance.

1 CKS: Fa/LBI.

2 CCA: BB 54/5.

3 PRO: Exch. Special Commission 6266.
4 PRO: E190 series.

5 PRO: E190: 160/11A.



PART ONE:
FAVERSHAM, THE HISTORICAL AND TOPOGRAPHICAL CONTEXT



Chapter 1 Faversham, the historical background

Although the period under study is 1580-1780, it will be of
prime importance to comment on the development of the
port in prehistoric times. This will serve to highlight key
topographic and historical elements that affected the later
development of the port.

Faversham straddled the most important maritime corridor
from London to the continent, and backed by the premier
road in the kingdom, Watling Street, which helped make
this peninsula of south-east England one of the world’s
most important regions (Brandon & Short, 1990: 1).

The Gough map of 1360 indicates the importance of estua-
rine waterways in Kent and emphasises the importance of
the Wantsum/Swale waterway as a direct routel from the
continent to London (Fig.1).

A ship, contemporary to the Gough map, and travelling
to London from the continent, would make landfall at
Sandwich Bay, and keeping Thanet to the north-east, and
passing the waterway leading south-west to Canterbury,
could coast along the Wantsum,2 and then turn west to
the entrance of the Swale, dominated then, as now, by the
island of Harty. Beyond Harty and to the north-east is the
island of Sheppey. To the south, an estuary led to the town
of Faversham. Continuing westwards, the ship would pass
the islands of Elmley and Hoo to the south before enter-
ing the estuary of the Thames leading directly to London

(Fig.2).
Faversham’s prehistoric topography

One of the factors in the evolution of the Kent coast has
been the fluctuating level of the land in relation to sea.
Sea level changes in the last 12,000 years are especially
eventful. 12,000 years ago, at the end of the glaciation
period, sea level was about 60m below present levels and
the North Sea basin was dry land out to the Dogger Bank
(Devoy, 1980: 134-48).

Sea levels rose rapidly, and around 7,600 BC the sea
advanced through the Dover Straits to flood the Thames
Estuary at about 23m below present sea level. Just before
6,600 BC, further rapid rise flooded the Dogger Bank, and
Britain became an island. The lower parts of the river val-
leys were drowned, creating the tidal inlets which were
an important feature of the Roman period (Tooley, 1990:
1-16). The Romano-Saxon land surface in the North Sea/
English Channel is estimated to have been about 5.06 ft
above the then High Spring Tides (Devoy, 1980: 17-20).

From the Roman to Saxon periods, there was a gradual
subsidence of the land,and between AD 900 and 1000 the
High Spring Tides started to overflow the lower levels

(Tooley, 1990: 10). This subsidence continued to the
13th century, when landowners in the Swale started a ma-
jor programme of reclamation. This reclamation, which
continued up to the 16th century, reduced the tidal area
of the Swale estuary and therefore reduced the power of
the receding tide to remove particles of alluvium from the
creeks and estuaries. Faversham Creek and its tributaries
once covered an area of 1,378 acres; it now covers 43 acres

(Fig.3).

The appearance of Faversham Creek before reclamation
or “inning” at High Spring Tides, would have been of a
large estuary filling an area from Norman Hill to the west
and Goodnestone to the east, some 41/2 km in width and
3 km in depth. Jutting out into this estuary would have
been the peninsulas of Oare, Thorne, Davington, Clapgate,
Ewell, Nagden and Graveney. The main channel led to
Thorne and at high tide Thorne was most likely similar to
Richborough, an island. It would have been difficult, if
not impossible to berth ships elsewhere than the Thorne
in the Faversham Estuary, without the facility of a local
pilot. Even Medway pilots who brought in coasters to
Faversham Quay in the 1960s, would refuse to operate at
High Spring Tides.3

The inner and southern edge of this great estuary rested
against the solid mass of the elevated land, comprising
brick-earth, gravel and chalk with flints.4 The sand and
loam coast stretches from Lower Gillingham to Faversham
on the west, while the north-east side is bounded by the
clay hills of Sheppey and the north-west side by the line of
the sand and clay hills of the Hoo peninsula. This termi-
nates in the north with the isolated clay mass that forms the
core of the Isle of Grain. North, but still within the Lathe,
Hundred and Parish of Faversham, Harty would have
dominated the Swale estuary. Strip away the modern allu-
vial deposits around Harty and Faversham, and you have a
coastline remarkably like the Gough map of 1360 (Fig.1).

Faversham port and landing places

Thorne, a peninsula which at high tide was almost an is-
land, was the maritime pivotal point of Faversham. The
first perambulation recorded, that of 1276, says: “Sir, as
you desire to be informed of the lists and bounds belong-
ing to this franchaise of our town aforesaid, for which the
service of one ship is due to our Lord the King of England,
we, willing to satisfy you, give you to understand that they
begin at a place called Thorne” (Jacob, 1774: 25-28).

The name Thorne5 is open to interpretation. The Vikings
established a “Thorne” on the River Vistula in the 9th
century; it is now called Torin6 and it was a Viking port
of trade. Gelling considers the interpretation too esoteric



and suggests “thorn trees or bushes”. Hedges of thorn
are a well known medieval device to protect an area of
commercial importance (Friel, 1983b: 5 & Gelling, pers.
corres. 1995). Either way, a trading place of importance
was contained on a lofty island7 so that traders and ship-
ping could be regulated and controlled by the incumbent
administration (Fig.4).

Communication to Watling Street, some 2 km away, was
by a direct straight road, now not apparent for most of its
length, but still existing on its southern stretch as “Love
Lane”. The not-apparent section ran on a natural cause-
way of clay which was removed in the 1840s to make
bricks (Fig.5). The line of the road - possibly Roman - is
also the Anglo-Saxon boundary of the town of Faversham

(Fig.6).

Located to the south, on the Thorne peninsula, are the
archaeological remains of an Iron-Age and Belgic farm-
stead, a Roman villa and the royal Abbey of St. Saviour
founded by King Stephen and his Queen Matilda in 1147
(Philp, 1968 and pers. corres. 1997).

Ditches and further buildings (located by field-walking)
associated with the Roman villa, indicate a large agricul-
tural estate probably stretching back to Watling Street,
and possibly beyond. To the north-east of the villa, aerial
photography indicates further Roman buildings nearer to
Thorne. In the vicinity of Faversham more Roman agri-
cultural estates, all with villas, and all situated on a spring
or river, have now been found through field-work at Lees
Court, Blacklands, Luddenham, Deerton Street, Teynham,
Bax Farm and Mere Court.8 The pattern emerging is of
estate-managed areas of production based on the villa,
with goods possibly being shipped by estuary barge9 to
Thorne, where larger coastal shipping would tranship
either to London, Reculver or Richborough, and even
directly to the Rhine or Boulogne (Milne, 1988: 82).
Aerial photography at Thorne has indicated a complex
of possible buried buildings,10 whilst field-walking has
recovered pottery giving a time-span of 100 BC to the late
15th century AD.

Early medieval port facilities at Faversham

The first written referencell to the port of Faversham was
in 699 when King Wihtred called his Council together at
a place called Cilling, possibly downstream (at Clapgate)
and to the east of Faversham town. Cilling was a Saxon
port of some importance. Another charter of 812 says:
“Strata antiqua quae jacet ad portum quae dicitur Cil-
lincg” (“The ancient street which leads to the port named
Cilling”). This street may still survive as a feature in the
landscape.

In the 7th to 9th century charters, Cilling is placed on an

expansion of the Faversham Estuary called Alhfleot or
Ealhfleot. This could mean a sanctuary, which fits in well
with the maritime topography, or it could mean “The Tem-
ple fleot” and tells us that there was formerly, probably in
pagan times, a place of worship here (Ward, 1934: 123-
136). Archaeological evaluation of Blacklands Roman
complex may confirm this hypothesis.

Cilling was probably a Royal port belonging to the King.
The grass pastures to the east are called “Cynincges Cua
Lond” (“The King’s cattle pastures”). The cattle pastures
and the port were given to the Archbishop in 814. Al-
though the pastures would have been of use to the church,
it is possible maritime trade would have been better served
from Harwic (Whitstable) and Fordwic (Fordwich).

Cilling, which possibly means “gully stream” (Gelling,
pers. corres. 1995), would possibly have been a muddy
foreshore, laid with a bed of branches to serve as a hard.
Vessels would have been moored to hitching posts at high
tide and then unloaded at low water (Schofield, 1981:
14).

The Anglo-Saxon town and port of Faversham probably
grew up around four roads meeting at St. Ann’s Cross.12
Now Tanner Street, it was also the site of the medieval
Guildhall,13 superseded by a new building erected in
1547 at the north end of Middle Row. Opposite, and to
the west of the original Guildhall, stood the Abbot’s prison
and downstream, at the headwaters of Faversham Creek,
stood Flood Mill, itemised in the Domesday Book of 1087.
The Anglo-Saxon landing place in the town of Faversham
is unknown but the site of Flood Mill is located on two
tributaries and an artificial island,14 which is shown in the
1520 pictorial map of Faversham (Fig.7).

King Stephen’s Abbey

Faversham received a huge economic injection when in
1147 King Stephen decided to build an Abbey at Faver-
sham. The site chosen was probably the place where
Stephen had landed after sailing from Boulogne to take
possession of the Crown, and had found Dover and Can-
terbury held against him. The Flemish ships and men of
William of Ypres probably landed him at the Thorne, near
Faversham, and Stephen marched on London with the fleet
keeping pace along the coast, as countless others had done
before him15 (Pers. corres. M. Frohnsdorff, Dec. 1995).

With the building of the Abbey, the quay at Thorne was
revitalised and over 500 shiploads of material were landed
from as far away as Normandy and Devon.16



Building material Quantity From

Ragstone, accounted for 80% of the total 8,000 tons South-east Kent, probably from the foreshore in
building material used. the Hythe area, 50-60 miles.

Caen stone, accounted for 15% of the total 1,500 tons Calvados, Normandy, 200 miles.

building material used.

Reigate stone from the Upper Greensand, 500 tons North Downs near Reigate, 50-60 miles.
accounted for 5% of the total building mate-

rial used.

Slate, the entire roof area 500 tons Slapton Sands, Devon, 150 miles.

Medieval waterfront development

With the Thorne Quay rebuilt, the Abbey established, a
ribbon development of merchant’s houses was built along
the spine of the Thorne peninsula and called the “new
town”. Storage of goods was either in the cellars17 of
the houses or in newly built warehouses on the medieval
waterfront.

One of the earliest shipping records is of the transport of
candle wax from London to Faversham in 1428: “Item

Source: Philp, B. 1968 and Tatton-Brown, pers. corres. 1997.

the secristers every year are obliged ..... as need is, to buy
and provide wax for their office ... whereof the ship hired
for the conveyance takes from London to Faversham for
each cwt of wax 1d. For 1000 weight 20d ... And for car-
riage from Faversham to the cemetery of the church (at
Canterbury for each cwt 2d, for 1000 weight 3s 4d.”18
The cost of transporting wax by road from Faversham to
Canterbury - a journey of 7 miles - cost twice as much as
the 68 miles sea voyage from London.

1 The only probable change of direction would be the pivot to the west
at Pudding Pan Sands. Numerous classical and medieval shipwrecks are
known to exist from artifacts dredged from the sea bed at Pudding Pan
Sands (Watson, K. BA dissertation).

2 In the 7th century the width of the short passage through the Wantsum
was three stadia (an ancient Greek measure of length equivalent to about
6071t or 184m) and fordable in two places (Bede 113).

3 “Because once the marsh grass is under water you don’t know where to
g0” (Pers. corres. Martin Lee, Medway pilot, 1995) (Fig.3).

4 Sheet 273, Geological Map of England and Wales, London 1974.

5 The name Thor was taken abroad by the Vikings to be honoured in the
place-names of their new settlements. Iceland has a range of Thor’s har-
bours and headlands (Thorshofn and Thorsness). The legend of Thor and
his encounter with the serpent Midgardsorm is commemorated on carved
stones as far apart as Altuna, Sweden, and Gosforth, England (Graham-
Campbell, 1980: 62).

6 Collins English Dictionary p.1583.

7 Thorne had cliffs to the north and west; these were scarped in 1822
(FLIM.)

8 Swale Archaeological Survey, 1996.

9 Excavation at Blacklands Roman site has revealed a large area of flint
and Roman bricks utilised to make a permanent hard or landing place
along the ancient waters edge (Swale Archaeological Survey, Interim
Report, Blacklands 1996).

10 Ruined buildings of brick, possibly Roman, are also shown on the
1520 map of Faversham Creek. (Fig.19).

11 Ward, 1947: Arch. Cant. 60, 1-14).

12 This spot was also the burial place for suicides, the last to be bur-
ied was Ann Watson, December 2nd 1815 “with an Ashen stake drove
through her body.” (F.I.J.M., June 1899: 189).

13 The Guildhall formerly stood on Tanners Green near the site of the
present Gospel Hall and the Gaol was opposite on the west side of the
stream. (F.I.M.J., January 1899: 132).

14 Known as Gunpowder dock or now as Gasworks Key.

15 See the Arras medallion, the obverse showing Constantius I bringing

relief to London in AD296. (Fig.13).

16 Working on the scenario that a 12th century ship could carry on aver-
age 20 tons of cargo. (Hutchinson, 1994b: 22).

17 Pearson, S., Cellar Survey of Faversham, 1996 in preparation.

18 The Becket Customary f.II (1428) B.L. manu coll add. MS 59616.



Chapter 2 The maritime topography of Faversham

The first surviving map to define the maritime topography
of Faversham is a unique document, painted around 1520
for King Henry VIII by his military engineers.l A number
of these were painted, most of English Channel ports and
presumably for use in the forthcoming French wars. The
Faversham example shows a barrier of boats across the
Swale, no doubt to stop any enemy excursions to the Med-
way and the English fleet moored at Chatham. The docu-
ment, part picture, part map, marks the beginning of real
maritime surveys in this country, involving as it does some
knowledge of geometry and perspective. It is some 30 ft
long by 18 ins high.2 The map runs from the North Fore-
land along the north Kent coast, up the Swale, finishing at
the headwaters of Faversham Creek and shows the extent
of the port of Faversham.3 North Foreland4 is shown with
St. Peter’s Church in the background, and both Margate
and “Gorende rode” are shown; presumably “a sandy bay”
is Westgate Bay. The sand shown at the bottom of the map
is not annotated but is Margate Sands. Reculver Church is
shown next, obviously drawn from life; the twin spires and
pointed nave end-wall are exactly right, as are the stone
stringer bands on the two towers. Herne is shown next,
with Hampton Hill and Hampton Hole (Fig.12). Swale-
cliffe Church is shown, followed by Blackearth, the site of
a medieval beacon, now called Beaconsfield. Whitstable
is shown with the “Old Haven” protected by a bank, and
outside that, the Pollard Sand (Fig.13). Opposite the Pol-
lard are the Colombine Sands, separated from Harty by the
Herne Channel. Note the green land behind the Colom-
bine Sands, denoting that the Snowt farm and weirs still
existed in 1520 and had not as yet been swallowed by the
sea. Seasalter Church is shown with the clay earth cliffs
which were a feature of this part of the coast. On Harty,
Land’s End is shown, as is a huge mound of discarded sea
shells called Shellness (Fig.14). This mound of shells has
been used to ballast ships from time immemorial.5

Alongside the huge mound of shells was the traditional
anchorage of the Swale:- “A good rode for a great sail of
good ships and at the least four and a half fathom deep at
the lowest of the water.” Muswell Creek is shown next to
Harty6 and Faversham Beacon appears on the north-west
shore of Faversham Creek (Fig.15). On the same shore
the entrance to Oare Creek is shown. Opposite is the arti-
ficial mound of Nagden, its top carved with earthworks.7
Nagden cottages are next to the mound; these survived to
1960 (Fig.17), when they were burnt to the ground. Be-
yond Nagden is the entrance to Ewell-fleet or Earle-fleot,
with a huge quay and circular watchtower to the right.
This is called the Thorne Quay.8 (Fig.18). Shown at
Thorne are warehouses with orchards leading south-west
to Standard Key. In the woods there seem to be massive
brick built ruins (Fig.19). Field-walking has indicated that
the Thorne peninsula was possibly the site of an Iron-Age
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and Roman port. Before Standard Quay is the waterway
entrance to Cooksditch, which flowed into the creek at
Standard Quay. Alongside stood the town crane, a mas-
sive construction swivelling on a base firmly positioned
on the quay by three massive struts (Fig.20). The crane
possibly had a winding wheel inside the structure, which
would have been worked by manpower. Note the doorway
leading inside the crane which gives some indication of
its size. The rope and double hook are massive, and the
whole assemblage is topped by a huge clinker-built wood-
en roof. Faversham town is annotated and the position of
Abbey Street is shown.

Moving upstream to the Town Quay with the Town Store-
house, the stream to the left of the Town Storehouse is pos-
sibly the conduit, much mentioned in 16th-century Ward-
mote Books. The name survives as Conduit Street, and the
warehouse still stands as T.S. Hazard, a Sea Cadet training
hall (Figs.21, 22). The tidal limit in 1520 was at the Flood
Mill, shown with a huge waterwheel on a dressed stone
base and “shoot” (Fig.7). The overflow from Stonebridge
pond can be seen immediately above the mill, and the tri-
angular piece of ground thus formed came to be known in
the 18th century as Gunpowder Dock. The tall wooden
palisading seen protecting the area beyond Flood Mill9
could be the remnant of a medieval defence or could be
a new development to protect the embryonic gunpowder
works just established in Faversham.

The first sluice at Faversham

One of the problems faced by the town of Faversham, was
the continual “swarving up with oaze”. Alluvial mud was
deposited in the waterway at an alarming rate. The sim-
plest artificial method of making shallow water navigable
is by means of constructing a reservoir up-stream which
would be filled with water when the tide was high, and
could then be released as required. In 1559 the first sluice
was built to help scour Faversham Creek. It was located
to the west of the present sluice (Fig.23). Construction
details and cost can be followed in the contemporary
Wardmote Book.10

Total cost to the town was £140 5s 4d. The sluice seems
to have been made entirely of timber, held together by iron
bolts and nails. Metal-shod alder piles were driven into
the mud to retain the walls, which were strengthened by
cross-walls on the east and west sides. The sluice gate was
caulked between seams, and the grooves it was raised in
were tallowed for ease of movement. The gate was lifted
by means of a winch; we know this because less than a
year later a further entry in the Wardmote Book says:
“Item payd for mendynge of the sluse wynche for timber
and spyckes”. The whole assemblage was painted with



tar and pitch and the opportunity was taken to clean and
“skoorynge” around the sluice.

Other items of interest found in the 1555 Wardmote Book
are, a covered slip or shed for the building or weather pro-
tection of a ship; that Lady-well was an open well which
was covered in and is now part of “Conduit Street” and the
wharf at Lady Amcotts, possibly belonging to the town,
was repaired for £9 13s 10d.

There was still a “ducking stool” in operation, which was
repaired for 6d. The pillory incidentally still enjoyed an
unhealthy trade. In 1555 ears were still being cut off
individuals “for etynge of fleshe in Lent”. In the con-
temporary Wardmote documentsll more information is
available to complete the picture of port facilities in 16th-
century Faversham: in 1570 “two repositories12 called
the storehouses, two [the] wharfes and one cranel3 called
The Crane. With all their appurtenances being in a certain
street14 called Abbey Strete, to the common way leading
to the Keye.”15 And also of one repository called a store-
house, called Archershwells and also a certain Nicholas
Surrey saylour now inhabits called the Thornhouse and
lying next to the fishmarket in Faversham.”

Archer Wells was next to the Town Quay of Faversham
and the “two repositories called the storehouses, two
wharves and one crane” were just downstream from the
town quay on the east bank (Fig.26). The warehouse
called Thornhouse, next to the fishmarket, was probably
the collection point for goods destined for Thorne Quay,
some 2 km away. In 1547 a John Culndey was paid 3s
8d for carrying 43 barrels of herring and one barrel of salt
from Thornhouse to Thorne Quay and “for a man to help
in lode and unlode 12d” (Crow, 1855: 184).

In 1581 Richard Tillman bought “three messuages two
gardens, two storerooms,16 one granary, two wharfs and
one capstanl7 with appurtenances... at a certain place
there commonly called the Keye ... for one hundred and
twenty and four pounds of silver”.18 Another crane was
mentioned by Henry Hatch two years before his death in
1583. John Elsten was “repairing a wharf where the new
crane now standeth” when Hatch came up and told him
that he “did the repairs of his own proper charge and said
it had cost him already £40 and what it would stand him
in more he knew not”. Elsten, “much commended him
for the same, and said the town was much beholding to
him for it”. Hatch said that he meant to bestow more than
that for the use and commodity of the town, and thereupon
said that he meant to bestow such cost upon the haven and
creek that a ship with two tops19 might come up to the
crane. Hatch’s legacy was worth £66 13s 4d per annum in
1574 and £10,860 in 1983, and has been used continually
to improve the creek and navigation.20
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Abbey and Court Streets housed a maritime community
in the 16th century. A muster list of 159921 shows both
streets contained more than a third of the town’s male
householders and over a third of these are described in the
list as sailors.

Other names directly involved with maritime affairs were
John Poyell, the searcher, and Richard Tusten, the customs
controller. The houses of Abbey and Court Streets did not
extend the full 200 ft down to the quays (Fig.28). This
should have allowed warehouses to be built immediately
behind the houses, as was done in other maritime towns.22
The reason warehouses were not built could be because
of the danger of flooding23 and also a legal legacy from
when the Abbey owned most of Abbey Street24 and the
town controlled the quays.

Ship-master’s houses

A typical ship-master’s house of the period is No.25 Court
Street owned by George Bennett, mariner (1586), John
Trowtes, mariner (1608), Abraham Rye, mariner (1633)
and Richard Price, mariner (1650). The house has a nar-
row 28 ft frontage and a depth of about 110 ft. It is a tim-
ber-framed building of two storeys with a cellar and small
shop. In the yard at the back is a brewhouse and wash-
house (Fig.29). The respective owners of the house had
their main business premises on the quay itself and in fact
behind No.25 Court Street is a timber-framed warehouse
still standing on the quay (Fig.30). This storehouse, now
a Sea Cadet hall called T.S. Hazard, dates from the early
15th century.

Faversham Creek in the 16th century was a constricted
waterway25 and conflict was erupting on procedures for
using the quays. A list from 1560 indicates that ships were
only allowed to leave on a strict rotation.

17th-century waterfront development

By a Special Commission of the Exchequer in 1676,
two legal quays were assigned to the port of Faversham.
Standard Quay or Key, owned by the Earl of Faversham
but occupied by Gilbert Wheeler, was one and the other
was the Town Quay, owned by the town of Faversham but
occupied by Marke Trowts, gentleman Standard Quay, “be-
ing in length two hundred and eighty foot or thereabouts,
beginning that length at a post placed or fixed opposite to
the East and by North end of the warehouse.... And directly
along the said place Key or wharf West and by South to
the end of the Key where one other post is also placed or
fixed as the extent and limits of the said Key”, abutted and
bounded with several warehouses belonging to the right
honourable the Earle of Faversham (Fig.31).” Standard
Quay was downstream from the Town Quay which, “being
in length seventy-nine foot or thereabouts beginning that



length at a post placed or fixed at the North East End of
the said Key. And so directly along the Key to the South
West end of the Key where one other post is fixed. The
extent and limits of the said Key abut and are bounded by
the town warehouses towards the South East and the River
or haven toward the North West.”26 Faversham was con-
sidered a fully-fledged Customs Port, with two legal quays
for the unloading of foreign merchandise. Standard Quay
wharf had by now superseded that at Thorne.27

In 1695 rack rents28 for the Town Quay were £7, for the
Kings Head Quay £16, and £2 for the White Hart Quay.
By the middle of the 17th century at least five quays were
in operation (Fig.32). All were situated on the town side
of the creek,29 and starting from upstream the Ordnance
Wharf at the foot of Davington Hill was constructed by
the gunpowder makers of Stonebridge Pond. The next is
the “Great or Town Key”, and this may be considered the
original one. The old warehouse standing on it was the
“Kings Warehouse” where the common beam30 was kept.
The next quay below is the “Wool Key” where wool used
to be shipped. Adjoining the Wool Key was the “Kings
Head Key”, which was named from the public house
which stood near the quay. The lowest wharf downstream
is called the “Standard Key”; this was separated from the
last by the old mill meadow and derived its name from
the site having previously been called the “Standarde
Greene”31 (Fig.33).

The description of the quays in 1703

Legal documents of 1703 indicate that as the tonnage of
shipping increased, quays upstream were no longer acces-
sible: “There are large vessels that used to come to Kings
Head Key that are now at the Standard, but it is difficult
getting through what is called the Narrows to the Kings
Head Key but the hoymen went to the Standard Key not
only as being more commodious but to be all together.
The Standard Key has been used for many years, formally
for the weighing of wool. The storechouses there were
raised from the ruins of the Abbey.”32 The same deposi-
tion goes on to say:

“That the Corporation have no wharf or Key of their
own within the said town, nor ever had one neither are they
entitled to any wharfage for any goods shipped or unshipped
within the town and port of Faversham other than the said
droits. There is a small Key or port on the estate of the said
Hatch, (Lady Amcottes wharf); but it lies so high up and in
so narrow a part of the creek, that no vessels except now and
then a small lighter, ever came up so high so that no corn or
wood is ever shipped or unshipped.

There was formally a wharf at a place called Thorne
within the Liberty of the Town: but it lied down the said
creek near a mile below the said town. It was formally part
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of the lands belonging to the Abbey of Faversham; but hath
for many years been washed away by the tide and never re-
built. There is another wharf higher up the said creek at the
North east and of the said town belonging to Lord Sondes
also formerly part of the said Abbey Lands called the Stand-
ard from which all or near all the corn or goods are shipped
and unshipped. The carriages to go to this wharf pass over
the whole length of the pavement of the town. And there are
several other wharfs higher up the creek: the first above the
Standard is called the Kings Head Key, which is used for the
coal trade, the next is the Wool Key and used for shipping
of wool; the White Hart is the next, which is used in the
coal trade, and the next is that of Hatch also used in the coal
trade. It is very rare that any other goods or merchandise are
shipped or unshipped at those Keys: and the coal goods fruit
or other merchandise are laden or unladen above the Kings
Head Key and are brought up or down the creek in lighters,
no other boat or vessel being to be got up there on account of
the want of water, the creek being very shallow and narrow
there except in the time of Spring tides” (Fig.34).

Standard Key (or Quay)

Lord Sondes, the Earl of Faversham, acquired Standard
Quay in 1677, at a time when the port-trade was expand-
ing. At the same time additional warehousing was built
from timber and stones taken out of the Abbey ruins.
Gillets Warehouse, formally known as Provender Mill,
is a timber-framed building of considerable length (49m
by 6.5m). It can be divided into three distinct building
phases: the main range, the chamber block and the Victo-
rian bay. The main range is 12 bays long and divided into
2 lofts of 6 bays each; the form of construction indicates a
17th-century date. The chamber block is a 3-bay building
with a steeper pitched roof. The wall timbers are in stag-
gered panels and the brick infill is used decoratively. The
timbers used in the chamber block are of a size and qual-
ity that indicate they would have originated in the Frater
building of the Abbey (Wade, 1986: 15).

In the Watson Collection of Sondes papers at Rockingham
Castle is the original estimate and plan for rebuilding the
warehouses on Standard Quay, dating from the late 17th
century.33 The builder had annotated the plan and section
of the new warehouse as follows: “Sir, this is a plan and
section of the store houses at the Standard Key if they be
all joined together as you purposed: with the same length
each tenant has now as I have mentioned on the plan.”
The three tenants named on the plan are Stephen Jones,
who has four bays, John Gould and Thomas Raynor, who
both have two bays (Fig.35). Stephen Jones was Mayor of
Faversham in 1698 and his grandson, Stephen Jones, held
the same office in 1773. On Edward Jacobs’ 1745 map
of the town the warehouses are shown “joined up”. It is
likely that a pivotal point for construction - from separate
warehouses to one complete unit - would be late 17th or



early 18th century. The estimate by William Thurston,
carpenter, for taking down and rebuilding the old store-
houses at the Standard Quay came to £211 4s 9d.

Immediately west and upstream but attached to Standard
Quay a miller called John Downe of Wye, Kent, leased
some land from Lord Sondes, and in 1761 built a watercorn
mill.34 The previous building is shown on the contempo-
rary plan of Abbey Farm35 drawn by Elias Allen.36 The
stream which drove the mill rose in the shooting meadow
and, in flowing north, passed the town “rope walk” where
no doubt rope and cordage were made for Faversham’s
maritime and agricultural needs. (Fig.34).37

William Thurston, in planning the rebuilding of the
Standard Quay warehouse, suggests: “I am of the opinion
twould be best way to sett the back wall of the house over
the river it would make a Great deal of room more on the
Key and save some charge of keeping that vault up. There

is a defination of it in this section.” The section shows an
underground “vault” with a coffered ceiling built of stone
and located at the back of the warehouse (Fig.35).

The mill at Standard Quay was one of two such mills on
Faversham Creek. Flood Mill, established by the 11th
century, was dismantled in 1617 and “the chamberlaynes
of this towne shall for the withe sell awaye (for the best
price that they can) the millstones and all the ymplementes
of the mill at the sluce and the monye thereof arisinge to
be presentle ynmployed and bestowed aboute the channel
and sluice, as most nede shalbe, accordinge to the discre-
tion of the governors of the sluce and channell”.38 The
reason for dismantling and selling off the equipment from
the Flood Mill was that in 1613, four years previously, a
new mill and mill house had been built at the new sluice
by the corporation and leased to William Giles for 21 years
at £16 a year.

1 B.M. Cotton Charter XIII. 12 and Figs.9, 10, 11.

2 It took the British Library, when requested, a lot of trouble to put all
30ft on a series of transparencies.

3 The Customs Port of London “only shall extend up to and include both
sides of the Medway to the Eastern side of Stangate Creek, or in other
words the North-Western point of Fleet Marsh.”

4 The map starts at the North Foreland and runs westwards along the
coast and up Faversham Creek to Stonebridge Pond for the very reason
that this is the legal definition and extent of the Port of Faversham as
confirmed by an Exchequer Commission in 1676 (PRO Special Commis-
sions and the Returns in the Exchequer E178/6266).

5 “The wind was strong but the hoy had no ballast, they sailed down the
Swale, which was sheltered enough, but the master insisted on beaching
the hoy at Shellness, on the extreme easterly tip of the Isle of Sheppey, to
take on ballast before braving the open sea. This took time ... and just as
they were able to refloat Faversham sailors with three smacks and forty
men arrested the King” (Captain Marsh, eyewitness account of the cap-
ture of King James II in December 1688, Cantium Vol.6 No.2 1974).

6 There was in the 16th century a substantial quay at Harty for ships
destined to unload at Faversham (CKS: U/2278 and PC/117).

7 In 1860 George Bedo, a local historian, on seeing these earthworks
wondered if the Danes had fortified Nagden (Fig.16).

8 Leland in 1549 said: “Ther commeth a creke to the towne that bereth
vessels of XX tunnes, and a myle fro thens north est is a great key cawled
Thorn to disscharge bygge vessels, ... Herteye joyning to Shepeye liyth
agaynt Faversham and the Thorn” (Leland, 1549: 144).

9 Flood Mill was owned by Thomas Arden in 1550 who was murdered
by his wife, Alice, and is the subject of an Elizabethan play of the same
name.

10 CKS: Wardmote Book, Vol.1, Fa/AC1. Various sluices were built
during the period under study, and can be followed in Fig.24 and Fig.25.
11 CKS: Fa/JBF10.

12 Latin repositoriis.

13 Latin grue.

14 Latin platea.

15 Marked on Jacob’s map but not named, now called “Smack Alley”
(Fig.27).

16 Latin cellar(Ium) store-room (especially subterranean) cellar.

17 Latin ergato; ergata means a capstan or a windlass.

18 CKS: Fa/JBF 10.

19 A two-masted ship with topmasts on both.

20 C.F.S.: Fa LB9 & pers. corres. P. Hyde, Nov. 1996.

21 CKS: Fa/ZB 62/2.

22 For example Kings Lynn (Pantin, 1962: 173-81).
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23 Even now the area of the town quay floods periodically on high
tides.

24 In the survey of Henry III 1248, the number of houses owned by the
Abbey were 28. Those not owned amounted to 4. These 4 were owned
by Peveral, St Augustine’s Abbey, Robert le Heorot (Harty) and the Lord
of Chilham (Crow, 1855 Vol.1: 46)

25 The main bottleneck was a stretch of water called “the Narrows”
which only one ship could use at a time. Larger ships would “ground”
and close the waterway for days on end, especially on ebbing springs
(Fa/ACI. F98).

26 PRO Special Commissions and the Returns in the Exchequer E178/
6266 mem. 4.

27 Thorne Quay had been out of use since the early 1600s and the timber
work had been washed away and never rebuilt. The channel was crossed
by a bridge on which in 1738 the corporation spent 42s on repair.

28 Rack rents, a rent stretched to the uppermost annual value of the
property rented.

29 Christchurch Abbey owned most of the west bank and development
did not start until the early 19th century.

30 Common beam, the one and only legal measure in Faversham for
goods shipped in the port.

31 Crow, MS notes, F.I.J.M. September 1898 p.93.

32 CKS: Fa/ZB 49/-51.

33 N.A.O. Watson Collection. 15.

34 N.A.O.; Watson Collection. Draft lease no.673.

35 The map shows the position of all the Abbey Farm buildings, Abbey
Street, Court Street, the Guildhall and part of West Street. The Abbey
Farm was measured at 85 acres 1 rood including 8 acres of freehold
(Fig.36). N.A.O.; (Rockingham Coll. Z1/7).

36 Watson Collection no.706 and Fig.36.

37 A map of Faversham designed to illustrate the distribution of its flora
1838 (Private collection).

38 CKS: Faversham Wardmote Book Fa/AC3 folio 101v.



Chapter 3 Operation of the creek

Jacob in 1774 mentioned that the sluice “has several times
been rebuilt when decayed, at this present, the owners do
very little, the corporation taking the whole expense upon
itself, and it is now in experiment, whether the frequent
working of men in the channel will not be more beneficial
than the supposed benefit from a sluice; that now being
out of repair, and of late seldom used for the end intended,
was the cause of making this trial for a time sufficient to
determine it has generally been imagined to be or not.”
Jacob goes on to say: “in the earliest accounts, I find, that
according to ancient usage and custom, every owner of a
vessel to ten tons and upwards, found a man with an iron
rake and shovel, to work therein for six days in a year, and
the owner of smaller vessels found a man with the same
implements, to work three days, under the direction of the
overseers of the creek or channel, appointed by the corpo-
ration” (Jacob, 1774: 64-5).

A letter to the corporation from grateful shipowners indi-
cates that cleaning the creek by men was more effective
than just using the sluice: “Gentlemen, we beg to inform
you of the very great benifits that have arisen from the late
improvements in the creek by an increase in depth of water
and in the width from the head of the Narrows upwards.”1
The shipowners also suggested “the necessity of a painted
post, with feet and inches to show the depth of water, and
painted notices specifying a small fine for attempting to
enter the Narrows, until there afforded water sufficient to
do so.”

Hasted, writing in 1798, says the navigation had greatly
improved, and vessels of 80 tons burden and upwards

could now come up to the quays close to the town on
“common tides” and vessels drawing 8 feet could come up
on Spring Tides (Hasted, 1798: 446).

Ships would be towed the three miles from Hollow Shore
to the town quays by men called “hovellers”. Hovellers
would pick up a track line and, working from the south-
west bank, tow the vessels upstream, usually with the mak-
ing tide. The effort necessary is minimal, the skill is in
keeping the vessel to the channel and in deep water. Once
a vessel touches the mud, its 100-ton deadweight will keep
it fast on the mud till the making tide lifts it clear. Another
potential disaster was to allow the stern then to swing into
the opposite bank, blocking the channel and allowing the
making tide to push the vessel further on to the mud banks.
Remains of bridges over the reelways and backwaters
used by hovellers were still extant on the 1909 O.S. map
(Fig.39). Another method to save the cost of hovelling
would be to row up on a making tide, usually with sweeps
from the bow (Figs.40, 41). The stern of the vessel would
be kept in line with the tide by the simple expedient of
towing a collapsed2 anchor from the stern.

On common tides and with large ships, shipowners had to
resort to transhipping into lighters.3 In 1761 lighterage for
a cargo of slates for St Mary’s Church cost an extra £7 10s.
Little docks for lighters can be seen downstream from the
Town Quay on Edward Jacob’s map of 1745 (Fig.42).

The fourteen lighters owned and operated in the Port of
Faversham in 1785 were:

Type of Vessel Tonnage Owner Men employed Task
Lighter 25 tons Edward Jones 2 men Unloading hoys
Lighter 24 tons Edward Jones 2 men Unloading hoys
Lighter 38 tons Daniel Jemmett 2 men Unloading colliers
Lighter 23 tons Daniel Jemmett 2 men Unloading colliers
Lighter 38 tons John Pratt 2 men Unloading colliers
Lighter 27 tons John Pratt 2 men Unloading colliers
Lighter 23 tons John and Mary Pratt 2 men Unloading colliers
Barge 55 tons John Horton 4 men Unloading colliers
Lighter 25 tons John Hall 2 men Unloading colliers
Lighter 36 tons John Hall 2 men Unloading colliers
Lighter 32 tons John Hall 2 men Unloading colliers
Lighter 23 tons John Hall 2 men Unloading colliers
Lighter 23 tons James Jones 2 men Unloading hoys
Lighter 22 tons James Jones 2 men Unloading colliers
414 tons 7 owners 30 men employed
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Other, later receipts show greater detail: “One lighter
measuring 25 tons used occasionally to load and unload
the Phoenix Hoy in Neap tides in Feversham Creek only,
has no men that belong particularly to her, but is managed
by two of the Phoenix Men, and extra hands to the number
of eight when used for Corn, and by four when for other
goods. One ditto measuring 24 tons used as above.”4

Most of the lighters were used to tranship coal from col-

liers, either part cargoes or from colliers of a size which
excluded them from the coal wharves of Faversham, ex-
cept on High Spring Tides. The corn hoy Phoenix of 1785
could not approach the wharfs on neap tides and ten men
would be necessary to tranship the 25 tons of corn from
hoy to lighter. Possibly corn bags had to be filled, emptied
and refilled. The coal cargoes would be transhipped by the
use of a chute, an easy enough task if the collier was higher
(as they were) than the lighters.

1 CKS: Fa/294.

2 Drudging with a collapsed anchor, one with the arm tied parallel to
the shank, enables a craft to maintain steerage way whilst moving with
the tide.

3 The first lighters documented in Faversham date from 1572: “item a
lighter - iij€” (CKS: PRC 10/6 fol.162 (p.323).

4 CKS: Fa/AZ88 and Fig 43).
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Chapter 4 The maritime topography of the Swale

Before the mapping of boundaries, the parameters of the
local community would pass by word of mouth from
the “oldest inhabitant”. This age-old ritual took place in
Rogation Week, the time between the fifth Sunday after
Easter and Ascension Day. This communal occasion was
often accompanied by liberal quantities of food and drink,
but it served a serious purpose, namely to keep fresh in
the local memory boundaries which may never have been
written down or plotted on to a map (Jacob, 1774: 25).

The boundaries of importance to the earliest port of
Faversham were the town boundaries, the port boundaries
and the oyster fishing boundaries. The town boundaries
were mentioned in an Anglo-Saxon charter of AD 699
but are possibly of Roman origin.l First written down
in AD 1276, the document emphasises the port facilities
of Faversham. In the very first sentence, addressed to the
Lord Warden of the Cinque Ports, it reiterates its obliga-
tion of the service of one ship “due to our Lord the King
of England”. Tt then starts the perambulation at the most
important point of Faversham - Thorne Quay: “we willing
to satisfy you, give you to understand that they begin at a
place called Thorne at Ewell-fleet.”2 The same bounda-
ries appear in a series of “purlieu or perambulations” dated
1611, 1700 and 1745.3

The oyster boundaries were first written down in 15994 but
record oral tradition from at least the 11th century, certain-
ly from the period when the dredging of oysters stopped
being uncontrolled and a codified system of procedure and
rule gradually came into being, in many ways based on the
medieval guild system with appointed officials and regu-
lated procedures.5 Entry was only by apprenticeship and
eventually such fraternities of free oyster dredgers became
companies under Acts of Parliament.6

The Faversham Oyster Company on “the sixth day of Au-
gust in the sixth year of James the First” (1608), undertook
a survey of the said manor and of the fishing grounds.7
“Thereto belonging by a special jury and a map made
thereof entitled “A map of the extent of the Kings manor
of Faversham by water according to a perambulation taken
by a jury and digested into this form, one copy whereof
was returned to the King Exchequer, another left with the
steward of the water court and a third with the jury who
are tenants to the manor and thereby ought to have com-
mon.”8 All three copies exist; one is to be found hanging
in a back room of the Town Hall in Faversham.9

The other two original oyster maps were located at Tassell
and Son,10 formerly solicitors to the Faversham Oyster
Fishing Company. All three maps are drawn in coloured
inks on vellum and enable one to plot with certainty the
location of all the boundaries quoted earlier in this paper
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of the first “trewe survey made of all the boundes and
lymyttes of the fisheing groundes on 15 March 1599”.
There is a poor black and white copy, now obviously of the
Town Hall map, in the Kent Archive Office.11 (Fig.44).

Charts in the 18th century

The problem of “finding the way” is an ancient one and at
sea the coastal topography - churches, windmills, clumps
of trees - would all be used as marks of recognition and
also as back markers on some foreground object to indi-
cate either hidden dangers or the line of a safe, deep-water
channel.

The Act of VIII of Queen Elizabeth in 1566 shows clearly
how the sailor relied upon his landmarks for coastal pilot-
age. At night the task was almost impossible.12

“For as much as by the taking away of certain steeples,
woods and other marks standing upon the main shores ad-
joining to the sea coasts of the Realm of England, being as
beacons and marks of ancient time accustomed for seafaring
men, to save and keep them and the ships in their charge
from sundry dangers thereto incident, divers ships with their
goods and merchandise, in sailing from foreign parts to this
Realm of England, and specially to the port and river of
Thames, have by the lack of such marks of late years been
miscarried, perished and lost in the sea, to the great detri-
ment and hurt of the common wealth and the perishing of no
small number of people.”

So important were these coastal landmarks that maritime
communities often paid for lights or repairs to landmarks
themselves. Occasionally Trinity House bought the land-
mark, as in the case of Reculver Towers. Landmarks
feature prominently in the 1774 Trinity House chart of
“The coast of Kent from the North Foreland to Sheppy
Island”13 (Fig.47).

By 1786 charts and chart makers had come of age, and the
“survey of the East Swale by John Stephenson” was a pro-
fessional piece of work (Fig.48). The sailing instructions
would enable any vessel approaching Faversham to make
its way safely through what is, even now, a difficult stretch
of water. On the 1786 chart, buoys in the approaches to the
Swale and Faversham were numbered by Trinity House,
running from No.22 to No.35. Other buoys marked are
fishermen’s beacons and buoys denoting the Seasalter
and Faversham Oyster fishery beds in the entrance to the
Swale.

Interestingly, the 1786 chart confirms the antique age of
Faversham as a port. Judds Folly House or Hill14 is now
called Syndale (Fig.49) and is the site of a Roman settle-



ment, possibly the town of Duroleveum. Nagden was an
artificial boat-shaped hill (the second largest in Britain).
Nagden means “small figure or stone on a hill”; the stone
or statue was possibly utilised as a navigational marker.15
(Fig.50). The third mound in the leading mark sequence is
the mound the “new” Oare Windmill sits on.

The last leading mark leads from Stone, the beacon site
next to Watling Street, through Harty beacon and along
the north edge of the Swale waterway eventually ending
at Reculver Towers. All three marks are possibly Roman
and although Stone Beacon was no longer there in 1786, “a
remarkable clump of Trees” denoted the spot (Fig.51).

Beacons

Lambarde in 1576 published a ‘“Perambulation of Kent”
which included a chapter and map on beacons in Kent
(Fig.52). He was accused of giving away information to
the enemy but rebutted the charge: “the increased speed in
mustering forces far outweighed any advantage an enemy
might gain from knowledge of the beacon sites.”16
Fifty-two beacon sites are shown on Lambarde’s “carte”
or map and in clear weather any warning of approaching
danger by sea would be very rapidly flashed from one
end of the country to the other; and London would soon
be aware of any threat of landing on any part of the Kent
coast. North and south Kent seem to be divided into two
areas, with a crossover at Rochester. On the Isle of Thanet
five beacons are shown connecting to beacons at Chislet
and Wye; these in turn connect to Whitstable and Herne on
the coast and Boughton inland. Boughton Hill connects
to all seven beacons on the Isle of Sheppey, including the
important beacon on Harty. This beacon is of possible
Roman date; the pre-1976 O.S. map annotates “Roman
Remains found” on the site of Harty beacon. This has
been removed on the latest O.S. maps to deter “treasure
hunters”. Apart from a line of sight to the Roman shore
fort at Reculver, Harty Beacon connects to the beacon at
Stone just west of Faversham, adjacent to Watling Street
and close to the possible site of the lost Roman town of
Duroleveum. Field-walking at Stone indicates possible
Roman occupation of the site, with ragstone, Roman tile,
and brick fragments. The very name itself is indicative
of ancient structures (Fig.53). Stone Beacon connects to
all of the Sheppey beacons and also the beacon on Grain.
Allhallows, Hoo and Chatham beacons draw together all
the north Kent beacons and send them up a single line of
beacons - Findsbury, Gravesend, Barrowehill, Stone, Pur-
fleet, Shooters Hill to London.

The first real test of the Kent beacon system came in
July 1588 when the Spanish Armada came up Channel.
No record appears to exist of the lighting of the Kentish
beacons apart from Macaulay’s poem of the event -
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“Far on the deep the Spaniard saw,
Along each southern shire,

Cape beyond cape in endless range,
Those twinkling points of fire.”

The East and West Swale, although used as a waterway to
London, led also to the great naval dockyard at Chatham
and, in 1596, steps were taken to protect Chatham from
enemy ships passing through the Swale.17

Up to 1640 the beacon system was kept in good repair but
after that was allowed to decay, although reinstatement
occurred in 1745 and 1804. Some sites are now known
only from their place names: “In the west hedge of a field
(called Beacon field) near the highway (called Beacon
Lane) ... lately stood a Beacon and Watch House both
since down.”18

One of the problems of a beacon, apart from the expense of
building it, is the collection of fuel and the maintenance of
a good light in all winds and weathers. The only naviga-
tional beacon shown on the 1520 pictorial map of the North
Kent coast (Fig.15), is the beacon situated on the west spit
of the entrance to Faversham Creek.19 Faversham beacon
is shown as an upright post, let into the seabed and sup-
ported on three sides by struts. On its top it has a circular
iron brazier, which is reached for lighting and refuelling by
a ladder, formed of a single pole, sloping against the main
upright with rungs nailed to it.20 The Faversham beacon
indicates the importance of Faversham as a port. Similar
beacons were not established until the 17th century and the
only other lit navigational beacon shown in the Thames
Estuary is one at the North Foreland in 1681.21

During the Spanish Armada emergency, a suggestion was
sent from, Faversham to the Privy Council that the Faver-
sham light, which they called a “showebeacon” should be
removed. Their advice was taken, for ten days later Lord
Russell reported to the Council that “the beacon and other
marks which may lead into the Temmys are plucked down,
which advise is surely right good.”22

The other beacon of interest in the Faversham area is a
huge oak structure built inside the late Saxon church of St.
Thomas on Harty. The church guide book wonders if the
church was built round the beacon or whether the beacon
was dismantled and re-used internally as a bell tower.

Buoys and buoyage

In 1541 the Deptford Trinity House Corporation was
empowered to erect seamarks and beacons in the Thames
Estuary at its own cost and to take over the maintenance
of any existing ones. Trinity House were able to licence
Thames pilots from the middle of the 16th century, and
their duty to supply pilots for the Queen’s ships dates from



this time. Features in the Thames Estuary and the Swale
can be itemised from contemporary documentation. The
Red Sand, Lond Sand and Snowts are named in 1345,23
the Girdler in 136124 and the Black Deeps in 1387. “The
Black Deep was the oldest channel through the Sands but
John Bartelott in 1540, was given an annuity of £20 a year
for piloting the King’s ships through the Black Deep and
his newly discovered channel, the New Channel or Queens
Channel.” Possibly the first chart of the Swale and the
Thames Estuary to show sounding, beacons and buoys
dates from 158425 (Fig.56)

Beacons are shown on Buoys are shown on -

Drying sands are shown with red dots, sounding in fath-
oms, and the nature of the sea bed, no doubt for use with
a tallow-rmed sounding lead26 - “small shells” “shells of
sand”, etc. Margate, Broadstairs and Ramsgate are all
shown with substantial curved timber piers protecting the
harbours. This is one of the earliest illustrations of these
ports. Compass lines radiate from the Spell buoy giving
leading lines to the Medway, Swale and North Foreland.
The Wantsum Channel is shown open and the havens of
Faversham and Milton are also shown.

Spanyard Woolpack (by the New Channel)
Nore bed Spell or Spile (three buoys)
Laste sand Laste

Spell
Posts are shown on - Rede Sand
Rede Sands, Gilman Sands Spanyard

Lod sande

1 Swale Archaeological Survey, Interim Report 1996.

2 Ewell was originally called “Ealh” and means a temple or in more
general terms a “sanctuary”. “Fleet” or “Fleot” means a sheet of water
communicating with the sea (Ward G. 1934. The Topography of Some
Charters relating to Faversham. Arch. Cant. 46, 123-36).

3 CKS U390 M36/1.

4 E. Jacob, History of Faversham 1774, 75: CCA U33 Wilson MSS
Depositions taken regarding bounds, 15 March 1599, PRO E134/42 Eliz
Easter 10: CKS Faversham Official Papers 03; CCA U33, Boa2; PRO
LR2/218 ff. 209-256.

5 R.H. Goodsall “Oyster fisheries on the North Kent Coast” Arch. Cant.,
1955, 1xxx, 118-151 and G. Pike, J. Cann and R. Lambert, Oysters and
Dredgermen, 1992, passim.

6 PRO E234/42 Eliz. Easter 10.

7 Careful surveys were made on three occasions under Elizabeth and
James, the first in 1591, the second in 1599 and the most detailed and
thorough was drawn up in 1608.

8 CKS: U390 L21.

9 Relocated whilst researching this thesis in 1995, with the original Ed-
ward Jacob map of Faversham in colour from 1745. There were thought
to be only two surviving Edward Jacob maps, one in the British Library
and the other in Kent Archive Office, both black and white engraved cop-
ies (Figs.45, 46).

10 West Street, Faversham.

11 CKS: U390 Z11-12.

12 1 remember as a young Captain of a 100ft topsail schooner how
difficult it was to find the entrance to the Swale at night and on one
memorable occasion on a foggy November night I relied on the Thames
coastguard to talk me in by radar. 50 years ago it would have been neces-
sary to anchor and wait for dawn.

13 Private collection.

14 There was an earth mound at Syndale called “King Johns Castle”
(Hasted).

15 Nagden Hill or “bump” was removed by Southern Water Company
in 1953 to repair breached sea defences. The engineer involved said the
hill was artificial (Fig.17). Nagden means in Icelandic or Nordic, “Small
post marker on the hill” (Wallenberg, 1934).

16 Lambarde, 1576: 22.

17 Three guard-ships were stationed in the West Swale, the Ayde, the
pinnace Sonne and a ketch. Orders were issued that “six musketts wch
she hath in her to shoot of as fast as they can” (B.M.; S.P. Dom. Nov.
10 1596).

18 Kilburne, 1659, Survey of the County of Kent.

19 The beacon at Harty is “off the map” but is shown on the 1608 Faver-
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sham Oyster fishery map (Fig.54). The other beacon shown on the 1608
map is a beacon called “Beacon of the Wreck”. This beacon is attached to
a huge rectangular object and is situated where now Horse Sands are on
the Swale (Fig.55). Itis possible Horse Sands was formed by accretion of
sand over the possible wreck. Outside Poole in the 18th century a shoal
formed a mile in length in less than a century after the sinking of a ship
(Ward E.M. 1932 English Coastal Evolution. London, p.245).

20 Harty Beacon is of the same construction, although the basket is can-
tilevered out, possibly to enable the basket to be lowered to the ground
for tending and refuelling. Field-walking at the site of the beacon on
Harty has indicated that coal was the fuel used (Site notes, 1995, Harty)
and if so the light could have been seen for about 7 miles (Naish J. 1985
Seamarks, Their History and Development. London, pp.87-90).

21 Grenville Collins 1681, Maps of the English Channel.

22 B.M. P.C. Gardiner July 23 1588.

23 B.M. Pat 19 Edw. III pt ii m. 20d.

24 B.M. For. Accts No 24, m.15: Close 34 Edw. III m.4.

25 B.M. Cott Aug 1i44.

26 A small depression on the base of a sounding lead was “armed” with
tallow, the material brought up from impact with the sea-bed could be
identified (sometimes by tasting) by an experienced pilot as from a
particular locality.



Chapter 5 Faversham and its outports, Whitstable, Herne and Reculver

“The Customs port of Faversham, as delimited by an
Exchequer Commission of 1676, included a consid-
erable portion of the Kentish coast, stretching from
Milton in the west to the North Foreland in the east”
(Andrews, 1956: 125).

The coastal area designated by the commissioners in 1676
reflected the importance and influence of Faversham.

“We did personally repaire unto the towne and porte of
Feversham and did search view and survey the open places
there and thereabouts, and by virtuie of the said commission
wee doe hereby sett downe appoint and settle the extents
bounds and limitts of the said porte of Feversham a member
of the said port of Sandwich as followeth -1

“The said portis by us declared to extend and be accounted
from the North Foreland bearing North East to nine fathoms
of water at a low water marke being about three miles from
the shore. And soe from thence in a supposed direct line
West till it fall opposite to the promontory or point common-
ly called by the name of the lands end point to the Eastward
of Shippie Ileland? to the same depth of water or thereabouts
at a low water marke and the like distance from the shore.
And from the said bounds and limitts up to the East Swaile3
South South West to Feversham creeke. And soe South up
the river or haven of Feversham to the bridge commonly
called or knowne by the name of the Shire Bridge.”4

The Port of Faversham was a member of the Cinque Ports
and the boundaries of the Cinque Ports were suitably
longer -

“From a point to the westward of Seaford in the county of
Essex, called Red Cliffs, passing outside the shoal called
‘The Horse of Willingdon’ to within five miles of Cape
Grizvies on the coast of France, along the east of the Gal-
loper Sand to Saint Osyth in Essex, from Brightlingsea to
Shoe Beacon and then to Shellness on the Isle of Shippey
and then across to Faversham.”5

These limits of jurisdiction gave invaluable rights of toll,
droits, salvage to the Cinque Ports, and were jealously
guarded and protected. The port of Faversham’s limits and
bounds included the ports and landing places of Reculver,
Herne and Whitstable. By 1820 the area of jurisdiction
had shrunk but still included Reculver, Herne and Whit-
stable (Fig.57).

Faversham outports
Reculver, Herne and Whitstable are historic landing plac-

es. Reculver, as one of the Forts of the Saxon Shore (the
“Litus Saxonicum”), was one of the possible focus points
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for the Roman grain trade from Britain to the Rhine and
the northern frontiers. This route of supply ran from the
Thames, Medway, along the Swale to Reculver and then
through the Wantsum Channel to Richborough. Grain was
possibly trans-shipped from these ports to the north or the
Rhine (Milne, 1988: 82).

Reculver lost its importance when the Wantsum silted up
and erosion of the cliffs destroyed at least a third of the
site. No cargoes to Reculver are listed in the Faversham
Port Books from 1580 to 1780, but Reculver was de-
scribed in 1702 as a “seatown, well frequented by hoymen
and fishermen”.6

Herne is described by Hasted as a centre7 of a flourishing
coastwise trade and in 1702, its farmers, hoymen and fish-
ermen considered their bay important enough to need guns
for protection against the French8 (Fig.58). In 1722 Herne
is listed as having one ship and in 1741, the only other year
for a full listing, Herne had three ships.

Whitstable’s beginning as a port dates back to at least
the 8th century. The port’s name, Harwic, is attested by
Lambarde in 1576 and Kilburne in 1659.9 It is likely the
8th-century Graveney boat found in the marshes just east
of Faversham in 1970, would have used Harwic as a home
port. Both Harwic and the land the Graveney boat was
found on belong to Christ Church at Canterbury. Stone
destined for Canterbury Cathedral was landed at Harwic
in 1424.10 The port, then called Greystone, has confused
academics for years. The “Har” in Harwic is Old English
for “grey” or “hoary” stone - hence Greystone (Winches-
ter, 1990: 87). The earliest maps of the Swale indicate a
sheltered harbour at Whitstable and on the earliest oyster
maps the “Old Haven” is drawn and annotated. Lambarde
also records the “Borowe of Harwic”, as does an Oyster
fishery map which clearly shows the boundaries of Harwic
in Seasalter (Fig.59).

The next series of oyster maps at the Centre of Kentish
Studies and Canterbdury Cathedral,11 shows the “Old
Haven” at the top of “Little Joy Lane” in 1725 and 1770
(Fig.60). This is situated in a small valley, with its western
and eastern ends on higher ground shown quite clearly on
the 1520 pictorial coastline map (Fig.13).

The eastern end, which is now Tankerton, was formally
known as Beaconsfield and at least one beacon, part of
a Kentish signalling system, is known to have been es-
tablished here since 1350 (Lightfoot, 1872: 299-310 &
Hasted, 1798: 51). On the western end, at Greystone, was
another beacon which was manned by men of Whitstable
in the 14th century (Lightfoot, 1872: 299-310). The Ord-
nance Survey geological mapl2 shows a spread of allu-



vium across the mouth of this bay which was protected by
the earliest sea wall at Whitstable. If breached, as it was
in the floods of 1953, the area of the “Old Haven” would
be awash to a depth of 3m. With the silting of the land-
ing place, Harwic may have been abandoned, and most of
Canterbury’s ecclesiastical trade went to Sandwich, with

Fordwich as an outport. Faversham took over the secular
trade of Canterbury until the late 18th century, but with
the building of one of the first railways in the world from
Canterbury to Whitstable, the trade shifted again, and for
the last time, to Whitstable.

1 PRO. Special Commissions and the Returns in the Exchequer E178/
6266.

2 Island of Sheppey, ‘Sceapige’, Saxon for ‘sheep’.

3 Swaile is the modern Swale, called Sualuae in Saxon times, meaning
waterway:- “This channel (Swale) would appear to have been an impor-
tant part of the sheltered waterway system that ran from Ribe in Denmark
to Quentovic in Northern Gaul, and from the Alps through the Wantsum
to the Thames” (Hill, 1981: 14).

4 In 1676 the only bridge in Faversham was “Stonebridge” which led via
St. Annes Cross by a shireway to Beacon Hill, Stone.

5 B.M. George III CAP CXXX 30th June 1808.

6 Miege, 1702: 117.

7 Herne ships anchored in a protected bay for unlading, now called
Herne Bay (Fig.58).

8 State Papers, Domestic, Anne 1/35.

9 Lambarde, 1576: 30, and Kilburne, 1659: 286.

10 Arch.Cant. 1933, 38-45.

11 CKS: TR781/1.

12 O.S. sheet 273, 1974.
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PART TWO:
FAVERSHAM—THE SHIPS AND THE SEAMEN
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Chapter 6 Development of the rig 1580-1780

The earliest pictorial representation of a Faversham ship
is from the Faversham Town Seal of 1200.1 It indicates
the type of ship, a hulk, in use at Faversham in the 13th
century. Marine archaeologists have defined the term
“hulk” to identify ships which share certain characteris-
tics (Hutchinson, 1994: 12). The hulk is shown carrying
a cargo of corn which indicates even at this early stage of
port development, trading and commerce were among the
functions of the port of Faversham (Fig.62).

The other surviving ship seal of Faversham is from the
13th or early 14th century.2 The ship portrayed is a more
advanced hulk loaded with men-at-arms and trumpeters,
and is pennoned with the chevron standard of the King’s
Admiral, Gilbert the Earl of Clare. This seal could repre-
sent the scene in 1293 when Gilbert, with the aid of the
barons of Faversham, had defeated the French fleet in the
Channel, (Fig.63).

One of the most profitable activities of the Cinque Ports-
men up to the 15th century was piracy. They marauded
as far as Hull and Bayonne, fighting without scruple
against Jew and Gentile alike for their money and goods,
and slaughtering French crews “quicker than it takes to
eat a biscuit” (Brandon & Short, 1990: 84). This “der-
ring-do” made them invaluable defenders of the Channel
from the 13th to 15th centuries and ideal recruitment for
the Crown’s adventures against the Welsh, Scottish and
French.

On the 7th October 1573 a pirate ship was seized by the
port authorities, the Lucy of Faversham owned by Gilbert
Horsely.3 The 40-ton vessel was a three-masted ship4
with two top masts and bowsprit “all of spruce”.5

Although the single-masted rig is the most effective for
sail-propulsive power, the addition of extra masts allow
the sail area to be divided up into more easily handled
sizes. Also a single mast puts a great strain on just one
point of the keelson, and the associated standing rigging
has to be of such a great thickness that the effort of keep-
ing it taut is usually beyond the capabilities of an on-board
crew. The most important advantage of having more than
one mast is in tacking and steering. When a ship turns, it
pivots about its centre of lateral resistance (C.L.R.) a point
almost always half way along the keel. Any sails set on
masts either end of the vessel will enable the ship to pivot
that much quicker on its C.L.R. The foresail, if backed,6
will enable the head of the ship to be turned that much
quicker when tacking and not be caught “in-stays”.7 The
foresail will maintain the tack or turn whilst the mainsail
and main top sail can be swung around. This is a fairly
complex manoeuvre but so fundamental to the operation
of square-rigged ships it is worth quoting from Captain
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J.H. Waters of Faversham (1898-1961) the niceties of such
an operation:

“At a pinch two men could put a topsail schooner or a ketch
about, whether she was a two- or three-master did not mat-
ter, the limit being whether they could start the yards swing-
ing, together. One man went forward, while the mate or
skip put the helm down8 and shouted ‘lee-oh’, to indicate
that it had actually been done - not so obvious right away
on a black windy night. As soon as she was up in the wind,
the bloke forward had to let go his jib sheets,9 nip across
and haul the jibs over the stays, taking care to swig them in
as tight as possible, as once off on the new tack in any sort
of breeze it would take a handy-billy10 to flatten them. By
this time the ship would have the way off her,11 the topsails
would be aback12 and the fore and afters thumping about
from side to side. As the bloke forward cast off the staysail
bowline, 13 the man at the wheel ran forward to the braces14
and let them go, both reached the lee braces15 at the same
time, and grabbing all three gave one tremendous heave to
get the yards started. Once the yards were on the move it
was hard to get the slack of the braces in fast enough, as they
came round with a rattle all three were swigged16 up on two
pins17 (Greenhill, 1951: 329).

The lateen mizzen was introduced to ships of Northern
Europe in the late 15th century and by the early 16th
century the common rig consisted of spritsail, foresail and
foretopsail, mainsail and maintopsail and lateen mizzen.
All of these sails are to be found on the Lucy of Faversham
in 1573. The foresail does little to increase the speed of
the ship but helps enormously in tacking; likewise adding
a lateen mizzen to the square mainsail improves the wind-
ward performance of a ship and allows it to sail a little
closer to the wind. On the approach to a tack, the turning
force of the mizzen can thrust the head of the ship through
the wind, but doesn’t help during the critical operating of
swinging the mainsail yards round. Rigging a ship with all
three masts optimises windward ability and provides the
sail power for efficient tacking.

1 B.L. Cast LXV 55, see also Fig.61.

2 National Maritime Museum. Cast K17, see also Fig.63).

3 Gilbert Horsley “is a man of very small stature with a red beard”; he
was tried by the High Court of Admiralty and hanged on 16th December
1579, the construction of the gallows costing 18s (PRO: HCA 1/40 £.98,
1/101).

4 The earliest known depiction of a three-masted ship is from a Catalan
manuscript dated 1406 (Mott, 1994).

5 CKS Fa/JQZ! and Fa/JQZ3.

6 Backed: to have the wind filling the forward side.

7 In-stays: a situation when a ship loses way and all the sails are flap-
ping in the wind.

8 To turn the ship into the wind.

9 Jib sheets: ropes attached to the clew of the jib-sail (the lower aft
corner).



10 Handy-billy: two single blocks rove to give additional purchase.

11 Almost stationary in the water.

12 Aback: the wind blowing on the forward (wrong) side of the sail.

13 Staysail bowline: the sheet of the staysail was attached to the rail by
a bowline.

14 Ropes which controlled the side-to-side swing of the yards.

15 Lee braces: ropes which were on the opposite side to where the wind
was blowing.

16 Swigged: figure of eight turns round a belaying pin, pulled taut by
“swigging”.

17 Pins (belaying pins): usually of ash and about 1 ft long and located in
circular holes in the top rail of the bulwarks.
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Chapter 7 Ship inventories, 1573-1742

The sail wardrobe of the Lucy included “a main sail, a
main-topsail, a foresail, fore-topsail, a spritsail and a
mizzen sail”. The spritsail was a square sail set from a
yard supported by the bowsprit, although small it added
leverage and balanced the mizzen sail. The main topsail
was set on a yard at the top of the mainmast. It provided
lifting and driving power in the undisturbed wind near the
top of the mast. Inventories of Henry VII show these sails
were in use by 1485 (Oppenheim, 1896a: 212).

Other sails of interest on Lucy are two bonnets and a drab-
ler. Both a bonnet and drabler were additional pieces of
canvas, laced to the bottom of the sail in the bonnet’s case,
and laced to the bottom of the bonnet in the drabler’s case.
Both sails were used either to enlarge the sail area or in
reefing, which is to reduce the sail area as the force of the
wind increases. For flat calm or tidal work Lucy was also
equipped with ten ship’s oars. The inventory also itemises
the running rigging of the ship: “topsail parral beads with
four pulleys or blocks, two topsail bowlines, main top
sail braces, mizzen lifts, main tackle, main sheets.” The
care and upkeep of the ship was entrusted to the Bosun,
and in the inventory are itemised the tools of his trade - *j
cawkyng yeron” (one caulking iron), also half a pound of
sail thread and two needles, and an empty barrel full of
pulleys, tackle and ends of ropes.

The crew’s effects are itemised: “the captain’s bed, 2 beds
(hammocks) an old pillow, an old pillow of canvas, one
pillow of feathers.” To get ashore, a skiff and two oars are
itemised along with “fyshe hooke wythe hys roope” to lift
the skiff over the side. The crew ate on pewter platters,
and drank out of pewter pots; their food, prepared in a fry-
ing pan, was undoubtedly the 33 pieces of beef, 26 fish,
eaten with the 3 loafs of bread, possibly seasoned from
the barrel of salt kept on board. For “self-denfense” the
ship was armed with one cannon, a falconet,1 on a car-
riage with four breech chambers. For close-quarter fight-
ing there were a harquebus, musket, two bows, a sheaf and
bundle of arrows, two daggers, a sword and dagger, two
axes, one hatchet, two old swords, and a drum to bang to
keep the spirits up. Also itemised are two black bills, an
old spear and halbard. For navigation a sounding lead and
line are itemised along with five compasses and two run-
ning glasses.

By 1600 the standard rig of spritsail, foresail and foretop-
sail, mainsail and maintopsail, lateen mizzen was already
being modified and as the PRO HCA-4 series2 indicates
the larger merchant ships started to carry a third topgallant
sail on the mainmast; fore-topgallant sails were coming
into use by 1650 and by the early 18th century most three-
masted ships carried one if not both sails.
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The inventory of the Lawrel3 of Faversham (60 tons)
dated 1628 has a sail wardrobe which included a topgallant
sail: “One main sail, foresail, spritsail, mizzen and main
topsails, main sail, foresail, foretopsail, mizzen topsail,
spritsail topsail, main topgallant and one bonnet.”

Staysails came into use early in the 17th century and by
1750 a typical small Faversham merchant ship would
carry two, possibly maintop and fore-staysail, and many
carried three. The mizzen-topsail was well-known by
1650 and by 1700 most ships had one. The spritsail was
often supplemented by the spritsail-topsail and after the
introduction of the jib in the early 18th century the sprit-
sail and spritsail-topsail lapsed out of use. The growing
practice of reefing sails is reflected in the demise of bon-
nets, carried on most ships up to the mid-17th century but
unknown in the 18th.

The inventory of the Queenborough of Faversham (84
tons) dated 1734 had a sail wardrobe which consisted
of one mainsail, two forestay sails, one foretop sail, two
top gallant sails, one main staysail, one fore staysail, two
main top sails and a flying jib. In other words, unlike the
Lawrel which was a three-masted ship (the Queenborough
wasn’t), it was a two-masted ship, a brig or snow. In
1690 the dividing line between the two-masted and the
three-masted ship came at 50-60 tons burden, but by the
1730s the dividing line was at 80-90 tons and by the 1740s
and 50s the dividing line had climbed to well above 100
tons.4

In the 18th century the word “snow” begins to appear in
naval histories or in the accounts of ports or of voyages.5
The brig and the snow are typical ships of the 18th century,
almost identical and both used for all purposes but brigs
particularly were used by the north-east ports as colliers.

By 1775, as ships were built larger and larger, a distinc-
tion began to emerge between the ship-rigged vessel and
the bark or barque. The bark of course set no square sail
on the mizzen mast. This also was the point of divide on
Faversham registered ships. In the 16th and 17th centu-
ries, as rig was formulated and fashioned, even ships of 40
tons would carry a three-masted ship’s rig. But by 1742
the hoy Margaret of Faversham, 35 tons burden, was a
single-masted cutter - “with her mast, bowsprit, boom and
gaff, two yards, and a flying jib boom.” The Margaret’s
sail wardrobe consisted of “one mainsail, one foresail, one
gib, one flying gib, and one topsail, half worn.” The Mar-
garet by Faversham port standards was a small vessel, the
average tonnage in 1744 being 52 tons.

In the Kentish Post, or Canterbury News Letter6 of 1729
the ship Friends Goodwill, John Adrien, master, burden



about 140 tons, was to be sold to the highest bidder.
Friends Goodwill was rigged as a brig, and the only reason
for knowing this is that in 1794.

“The brigs Friends Goodwill, James Carr, Master and the
Good Intent, Robert Hutchinson, Master, coal laden, from
Sunderland to Amsterdam, were a few days ago taken off
the Island of Goree by a French brig privateer of 18 guns,
and re-taken yesterday at the back of the Goodwin Sands by
His Majesty’s frigate Brilliant, Captain Robinson, and sent
in here.”7

The same year “The Ruffler Sloop, James Pearce, Master,
burden between 60 and 70 tons; with all utensils necessary
for the same, being all in very good repair was also offered
for sale at Faversham” (Fig.64).

In Edward Jacob’s map of Faversham (1745), there is a
pictorial representation of seven hoys (Fig.65). All are
single masted, with a bowsprit, setting a mainsail, staysail
and jib. None of the hoys is setting a topsail or even has
one furled. All have a raised quarter-deck with stern cab-
ins and double squared windows or ports. The mainsail
is gaffed and loose-footed and the ensign is carried on
its own staff attached to the rail at the stern. Four of the
hoys are shown leaving on the tide and a six-oared cutter
is illustrated seaward of Powder Monkey Bay. Possibly
its function was to aid the hoys by towing them round
the curves of the creek. The set of the sails indicate the
prevailing south-westerly wind was blowing, which would
enable them to sail almost unheeded out to the Swale.

The other three hoys are shown moored just off Standard
Quay. A masthead ensign is being flown by one, but all
three hoys have bare spars undoubtedly because the sails
are stored below decks or ashore. Further up the creek
at the Town Quay are shown four docks for lighters and
a small fishing boat, possibly unloading its catch for the
fish market held under the Guildhall every Wednesday and
Saturday (Jacob, 1774: 62 and Fig.66). The Edward Jacob
map is undated but unusually for a town map has a com-
pass rose showing the magnetic variation (Fig.67).

In John Purdy’s Sailing Directory for the English Channel
published in 1842 are tables showing magnetic variation
from 1580 to 1841. In 1657 there was no magnetic vari-
ation in London, and the compass needle pointed to true
north. After that time the variation increased westward
yearly, and in the middle of the 18th century the observa-
tions in London were as follows:

1740 (15 40 West)
1745 (16 53 West)
1748 (17 40 West)
1750 (17 54 West)
1760 (19 12 West)
1765 (20 00 West)

The magnetic variation of 17 00 West shown on Jacob’s
Faversham map can be compared with the reading ob-
served in London between the years 1740 and 1765. Al-
lowing for the distance between Faversham and London
and a slight difference in variation, the Jacob map can be
dated around the year 1745. R.V. Tooley in his publication
Tooley’s Dictionary of Mapmakers places Jacob’s map
around 1770. On the evidence of map variation this date
would seem to be too late.8§ On other estate maps further
pictorial 18th-century shipping in the port of Faversham
can be described. On the Ham Farm estate map dated
17609 shipping is anchored at Hollow Shore: a three-
masted ship, with painted gunports is making sail; it has a
raised quarter deck with stern cabins and double squared
windows or ports. It is flying a red pennant from its main-
mast truck, which may indicate it is one of the powder
hoys, possibly the Edward and Mary, employed by the
Gunpowder Works (Fig.68).

Another estate map, dated 1708 and of Minster in Shep-
pey, 10 has painted in the top left corner one of the early
representations of the Dutch-influenced hoy. Its well-
rounded lines and “apple bow” with the use of leeboards
all accumulate to shout its Dutch heritage. The mainsail
itself is held out with a sprit-yard, the sail being loose-
footed and the rig points the way to the development of
this type into the ubiquitous Thames sailing barge of the
19th and 20th centuries (Fig.69).

1 OED Falconet: A light piece of ordnance of various calibres, used in
the 16th and 17th centuries.

2 If a ship was arrested by order of the High Court of Admiralty an
appraisal was made and a complete inventory of everything removable
taken. The many hundreds of appraisements and inventories which are
in the court records (PRO HCA-4) make it possible to trace in great detail
the development of ships and their equipment - including sails - for ships
of every size, from the 16th to 19th centuries. Five Faversham ships’
inventories from 1570 to 1742 have been transcribed.

3 Laurel: Amongst the many meanings of the word is that for one of
the English gold pieces (especially those of 20s.) first coined in 1619, on
which the monarch’s head was figured with a wreath of laurel.

4 PRO HCA - 4/24.

5 The first reference in the OED to the use of the term for a British vessel
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is 1721 (see Davis, 1972: 77).

6 Kent is fortunate in possessing some of the oldest provincial news-
papers in the country. The Kentish Post, or Canterbury News Letter
goes back to 1717. The Kentish Gazette first appeared in 1768, being
published in Canterbury by Simmons and Kirkby every Wednesday and
Saturday.

7 Kentish Register Feb. 19, 1794, Dover.

8 Pers. corres. Brian Duncan Thynne, Hydrography Section, National
Maritime Museum, Dec. 1993.

9 CKS, U36: 31.

10 CKS, U36: 15.



Chapter 8 Operation of the ships

On most occasions hoys would load at Faversham, and be
towed or sailed out on the making tide and use the same
tide to propel them westwards through the Swale and
into the Thames. It would have been standard practice
to anchor off the Medway and wait for the tide to make
some hours later and again use the tide to make their way
up-river against the prevailing south westerly winds. The
ideal rig for this sort of voyage would be a large simple
rig, easily tacked and with the ability to go to windward.
As we saw from the 1573 inventory of the Lucy, oars were
an important element, as were the “kedge and bower”
anchors. On windless departures from Faversham creek,
hoys could be either towed from the shore or by a pulling
boat, or use their own oars or sweeps. If the tide was too
strong on the ebb, ships would drop the anchor and dredge.
This meant 30 fathoms of rope or chain and a folded an-
chor would be dragged along the sea bed to slow the hoy
down and give steerage way. Hoys would also work their
way up a creek by running the kedge away, heaving up to
it, dropping the main anchor, and running the kedge away
again, perhaps for 20 times before their destination was
reached. Another trick peculiar to the Swale was that in
calm weather, as soon as the hoys entered the creek, one
fully loaded hoy would tie alongside another, more lightly
loaded, and the flood tide would roll them up the creek in
the channel, and if they touched, it would always be the
fully loaded hoy first. The lightly loaded hoy would then
pull the other one off.1

It was essential to use the tides to reach London quickly
(Fig.70). The outgoing or ebbing tide was known in the
Swale as the “west tide”. Between Milton Creek and
Queenborough, the tide runs from west to east for the first
hour of the ebb. This was called the west tide. After that
it reverses and runs from east to west (Fig.71). Between
Milton Creek and Shellness, the ebb tide runs from west
to east all the time. The term “west tide” is really a mis-
nomer, because tides are usually described in terms of the
direction towards which they are going, rather than from
which they are coming (Cordell & Williams, 1985: 49).

The trick was to leave Faversham Creek on a making tide,
arrive at the entrance to Milton Creek two hours after
High Water and use the ebbing tide in the West Swale to
take you to the mouth of the Medway, then anchor and
wait for the next making tide which would take you up
the Thames to London. These anchorages, Faversham
“bay” and Stangate Creek are historic anchorages used by
sailing ships en route to London from time immemorial.
Faversham hoys were complex in their rig, and although
able to voyage world-wide, were somewhat over-sparred
for Thames Estuary work. Faversham hoys could and did
voyage rather than coast. Spain, Ireland, Norway, Wales,
Scotland, Newfoundland are some of the destinations to be
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found in the Port Books and from other sources.2
The operation of the Faversham fishing boats

The first pictures we have of boats dredging and fishing
in the Swale is from an estate map of the Isle of Harty
dated 17183 (Fig.72). Of the sixteen boats shown six are
double-ended rowing boats with two people, one of the six
is annotated “Ferry Boat” and is obviously the boat used
as a ferry from Oare to Harty, the other five are engaged
in dredging or trawling; all six craft are of a type called
“peter-boats” or dobles. The peter-boat is a beamy double-
ended clinker hull originating at the very least in the 14th
century. The name peter-boat could be derived from as-
sociations with St. Peter, the patron saint of fishermen, or
could possibly be derived from the peter-nets used in seine
fishing in the Thames Estuary. Dobles incidentally could
be a corrupted form of Kentish dialect for “double”-ender.
Peter-boats are consistent in size, and typical measure-
ments would be about 18 ft to 19 ft in length, and a beam
of about 6 ft 6 ins, they were heavily built, clinker fashion,
of oak with grown frames, the strakes being up to 3/4in
thick. They were half-decked with waterways and scup-
pers through the low bulwarks, and a unique feature was a
wet well built in amidships; this wet well for keeping the
catch fresh seems to have been invented by the Dutch and
introduced into the Thames around 1700 (Coombe, 1989:
15). As in later fishing craft the wet well was tapered in
from the boat’s bottom to keep the centre of gravity lower.
In a model of a peter-boat in the Science Museum there
are over 200 holes bored to provide the appropriate water
circulation.

On at least three of the peter-boats illustrated on the Isle of
Harty map can be seen “thole-pins”; this fits in well with
what is known about peter-boats. The ash oars were usu-
ally 15 ft long with squared looms (hence the “thole-pins™)
and spoon blades about 3 ft x 6 ins wide. A rowing box
rather than thwarts was positioned athwart the peter-boat
in the working area forward of the wet well. Two men
could sit side by side on the box and row (Fig.73).

The sailing rig

Out of the sixteen boats there are five with sailing rig.
These five are of the same size and type as the five row-
ing peter-boats, three have a spritsail rig and the other two
have a standing lugsail rig; two of the boats have their
spritsails furled against the mast with the sprit unshipped.
The mainsails aren’t laced to the mast; obviously the tack-
line would have kept it taut enough whilst sailing (Fig.74).
The other five craft shown are spritsail-rigged hoys 4 and
will be discussed in detail in the appropriate section of this
study.



Interestingly, the artist of the Isle of Harty map was aware
of local conditions; all five peter-boats are shown dredging
on well known oyster beds, and by looking at the pennants
of the peter-boats we see the wind was blowing from the
south-west, the prevailing wind on this part of the coast.
In 1720 the first use of the words “oyster smack™5 ap-
pears. The earliest craft on the Faversham register were
called “borleys”; later oyster smacks were known also as
“yawls”.

Oyster bawleys

The “borley” or bawley was clinker-built typically 30 ft in
length with a beam of 9 ft 6 ins and a tonnage of about 71/2
tons. The stern of the bawley is “straight-cut” like a row-
ing boat and her boomless upright mainsail, though ena-
bling her to sail nearer, offers less canvas area to the wind
(Collard, 1902: 27). The oyster boats of the Swale are re-
nowned for their longevity. Some were clinker-built, then
doubled, then trebled so that they ended up carvel-built;
some were stripped down and rebuilt so often their life-
spans can be measured in centuries rather than decades.6
The Faversham bawleymen’s style was for the mainsail to
be set loose-footed to a boom, the jib-headed topsail was
held to the topmast by a jackline through the luff.

The consensus of informed opinion was that the Faver-
sham men were the best dredgermen, followed by Whit-
stable smacksmen with Essexmen trailing behind (Collard,
1902: 29). At Faversham the dredgermen had mastered
the difficult art of “rucking” their mainsail peak to give a
very slow dredging speed. “They could pick up a hairpin”
(Coombe, 1989: 27).

The largest bawleys used on the Faversham grounds were
about 40 ft x 12 ft. The earlier bawleys had a straight keel
but later on the boats drew more water aft than forward.
The shallow draft of these boats is to cope with the local
shoal waters; the keel has a slope which turns up again to-
wards the rudder; thus the helmsman can turn the boat into
deeper water the moment the keel touches bottom. This is
a unique feature and allowed the largest craft to sail up the
twisting Faversham Creek with impunity.

The hull of the bawley was black due to the annual tarring
or “blacking” as it was called. This took place on “Hills
Hard”,7 a shingle bank near the mouth of the creek. The
method used was to scrub off as the tide receded, burn off
the tar with paraffin soaked rags, repaint with new tar be-
fore the tide came back in - a period of no more than four
to six hours. The sails when new were creamy white flax,
but after a season or two they acquired a tan colour as fish
oil and red-ochre were applied to the stretched canvas to
maintain an effective wind resistance. To maintain this
wind resistance it wasn’t unknown for a crew hoping to be
first back to the oyster boat anchorage at Nagden “sump”
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to throw water over their sails. The flax in the sails soaked
up the water and made the material more wind resistant.

An area of grass opposite the town sluice was allocated to
the oystermen to “dress” their sails. The larger boats had
a long shallow counter and weren’t “straight cut” as were
the smaller bawleys. This gave additional deck space and
allowed the boatmen to work up to six oyster dredges at
once. Italso gave “lift” and would have kept spray and the
possibility of being “pooped” at bay. The one remaining
craft of this size at Faversham§8 has a well rounded mid-
section, and a sloping rudder post which gives a low wet-
ted surface area and therefore a low hull drag, all of which
gives a fast boat; the low free board, essential for working
the oyster dredges, gives little protection from the weather
and as most dredging was done in the winter months these
men would have been extremely tough. It is worth quoting
at length from an oysterman - Skipper Albert Stroud born
in 1845 but able to relate experiences of his father and
grandfather, both of whom were “oystermen” in the Swale
as far back as 1750:

“It was always damp down below, even with the fire going
because of the saltpetre pickling in the bawleys timbers.9

“No mattresses or bedding was kept on board, each of us
brought our own gear on board, each man catered for him-
self, bringing his own wicker grub10 basket, the cabin had
four cupboard bunks with sliding doors, as the cabin was
aft it had little more than sitting headroom, all woodwork,
including the interior of the bunks was painted a very pale
green, giving the illusion of space - although there was little
enough of it down below: there was no room for a table for
instance, or for cupboards.

“At the fore end of the cabin was a fair-sized coal range,
with an oven to one side, it stood in front of a bulkhead in
which there was a gap leading to our coal supply and the 50
gallon water tank, which were in the after end of the hold.
Although the locker seats had storage space underneath, we
kept tools, shackles and other gear in them rather than the
usual coal and firewood.

“There was plenty of light from a two-foot square skylight,
but it did not open as the companionway gave adequate ven-
tilation. In the top of the skylight was the compass, in view
of the helmsman but protected from the weather, by night we
had an oil lamp with a tin reflector at the back, which hung
on a nail in the for’ard bulkhead.”11

It is unusual to find an oysterman so lucid about his ex-
periences - usually such men were illiterate. In a signed
deposition of 1749 by the Society of Dredgers we find that
out of a membership of 140 names some 70 have put “their
mark”.12



Operating the oyster boats

Life on board Faversham oyster boats was hard. An ap-
prentice (and only sons of existing freemen had the right
to be apprenticed)13 would be put to work “on the bow”.
This meant that whatever he caught dredging was kept
separate and the boat took one quarter share of what it was
sold for. The share system on Faversham boats was organ-
ised so that with the normal three crewmen the proceeds of
the catches were divided into four shares, one for each of
the men and one for the boat and gear. Therefore if there
was a fourth hand working on the bow he paid over a quar-
ter of his proceeds (Collard, 1902: 22).

The bow dredge was the heaviest - about 24lb for Swale
Estuary work - but had the shortest warp; this was to pre-
vent the “fleet” of five or six dredges, which would have
been overboard at any one time, from fouling each other.
The “midships” dredges would weigh about 22 lbs with a
rather longer warp, and at the stern would be the lightest
dredge at 20 lbs with the longest warp - light dredges need
a longer warp to bite. Working on the bow was much hard-
er than working aft. The bow of course was much higher
out of the water and it was much harder to get the heel of
the dredge over the bulwarks (Collard, 1902: 74).

The dredge had a triangular iron framework which sup-
ported a 11/2in net bag. The underneath of the frame was
angled so that the bag would scrape across the sea bed
without tearing. At each side were “side-sticks”, and a
“catch stick” was secured along the bottom with strips of
hide; both helped to empty the contents of the dredge on
deck for “culling”. Faversham smacks and borleys usu-
ally worked six dredges in pairs, the bowman having the
two largest, the “midshipsman two smaller and the skipper
handling the two lightest ones as well as steering the boat”
(Pike & Cann, 1992: 24).

Dredging would not start until two hours after high wa-
ter,14 and the boats always worked square with the tide,
for to work against the tide would “swim the dredges”
right off the ground (Collard, 1902: 78). The warps were
attached to the dredge with a fishermen’s bend, a four-
strand bass rope 15 fathoms long, and after the dredges
had been “shot” over the side and allowed to run out to the
required length, the warp was hitched to the boat’s rail by
a breakable “stopper” - usually 4 ft lengths of bass rope
unlayed into just a couple of yarns. The “stopper” would
be taken through a hole in the scuppers, round a stanchion
and secured with a rolling hitch. If the dredge caught up
on an obstruction the stopper would break, allowing the
rest of the warp to run out with a small wooden buoy at
the end; this way the gear could be recovered later. The
dredge buoy was a tapered piece of wood with the warp
led through a drilled hole and stoppered with a figure-of-
eight knot (Pike & Cann, 1992: 31).

When worked in pairs the procedure was to haul one of the
pair of dredges on board, empty the net bag, and “shoot”
the dredge out again (Stroud, 1905). The sorting of the
haul was called “culling”; the oystermen chipped the
“cultch”15 away from the oysters with a large knife known
as a “cultick”, the small oysters and the “cultch” would be
“shaded out” through the ports in the bulwarks back into
the sea and the rubbish or “gash”, usually seaweed and
starfish, would be piled into baskets and sold later to farm-
ers for manure. The “culled” oysters were measured into
net bags called “dockers” which held a bushel, and at the
end of the day would be rowed ashore to the company’s
sheds at Hollowshore - the men rowing “London-fashion”,
a man on the middle thwart pulling a pair of oars and two
men with an oar each on the other two thwarts pulling on
opposite sides; the forward oarsman steered the boat. In-
cidentally, of course, it would have been necessary to row
with one dredge working if there was insufficient wind on
the Swale to allow the oyster boats to make way.16

1 CKS FaAz4: 23. (June, 1605).

2 PRO E190/642.

3 CKS U178 PI.

4 The word hoy originates from the Dutch - heu - haude, a large one-
decked boat, commonly rigged as a sloop..

5 CKS Fa/AZ 83/1.

6 Pers. corres. H. Perks, Dec. 1994.

7 No doubt named after William Hill, the doyen of the Faversham Oyster
Fishery.

8 Survey of the Secret, hulked at the entrance to Faversham Creek
(Swale Archaeological Survey, 1996).

9 Saltpetre as well as coal tar were bought from the local gunpowder
works.

10 Food.

11 Stroud autobiography, unpublished manuscript 1905, private collec-
tion.

12 CKS Fa214.

13 CCA.BB 5/1-18 1679-1764.

14 And had to wait for the starting gun, a cannon, to be fired from the
shore near the Shipwrights Arms, Hollow Shore.
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15 OED: Rubbish: the flooring of an oyster bed (Origin doubtful).

16 Information for this section has been supplied by the Jemmett family
and dates from about 1895-1925 but recounts practices unchanged for
centuries, as indeed is the Jemmett involvement in the maritime history
of Faversham. In the 18th-century Wardmote Book we find on 7th May
1754 an order “that Daniel Jemmett do go to Guernsey to buy as many
tons of stones as his vessel will bring for paving the town at the same
price the stones bought by him last year” (CKS Fa AC4).



Chapter 9 Comparison of the Kentish coasting fleets

In 1566 the Privy Council wrote to William Lord Cob-
ham, Lord Warden of the Cinque Ports, asking that depu-
ties1 be appointed to survey “all portes, crekes and landing
places within that shire.” The survey2 is now valuable as
an indication of the measure of Kent’s maritime activity in
the eighth year of Elizabeth’s reign.

Out of the 293 ships listed the tonnage is given for 268.
Two of these exceeded 100 tons, 17 ships were recorded
at 40 tons but 233 were listed as being of 20 tons or less,
176 at 10 tons or less and 47 at just 1 ton. Five ports -
Dover, Sandwich, Faversham, Rochester and Maidstone
- indicated that trading in merchandise occupied most of
their ships, whilst the other 15 ports gave fishing as their
main occupation.

Apart from four sea fishing crayers at Hythe, all the largest
Kent ships came from the five Cinque Ports. Faversham
and Rochester had one each, Maidstone had two, Sand-
wich had only one 40-ton ship due to the continual and
persistent silting up of the Haven. The rest of the large
ships were anchored at Dover, two ships of 101 and 120
tons, one at 41, one at 43 and four fishing crayers of 40
tons each.

Kent shipping, 1566

Port Ships
Folkestone 25
Dover 20
Sandwich 17
Ramsgate 14
Broadstairs 8
Margate 15
Milton 26
Sittingbourne 3
Birchington -
Whitstable, Swalecliffe & Herne 19
Faversham 28
Queenborough 11
Upchurch 12
Halstow 14
Rainham 13
Gillingham 27
Rochester

Maidstone

Dartford
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Apart from the fishing town of Hythe, the ports of Kent
indicate a surprisingly low ratio of mariners to house-
holds: Maidstone and Dartford 1 in 13, Faversham 1 in
8, Sandwich 1 in 7, Rochester 1 in 5. The highest ratio
of mariners to households occurred in the fishing villages
along the north Kent coasts - Ramsgate, Broadstairs, Mar-
gate, Whitstable, Queenborough, Halstow and Upchurch.
Ramsgate for instance had three fishermen per household,
Queenborough almost two. The indications are that in
1566 the maritime trade of Kent, apart from the five ports,
wasn’t geared up to providing the expanding population of
London with corn and other commodities. As yet, fish, a
staple ingredient in the late medieval diet, was still holding
its own. But four years later, in the Faversham Port Book
of 1570, can be seen the first stirrings of mercantile activ-
ity which in the next two hundred years were to transform
the trading patterns of north Kent. London’s population
would leap from 40,000 persons in 1500 to 530,000 per-
sons in 1696. Shipment of corn from Kent would rise from
202 shipments in 1579-80 to 527 shipments in 1649-50
(Gras, 1918: 107).

Total Burden Seamen Houses
- 70 120
684 130 358
308 62 420
118 70 25
56 40 98
105 60 108
198 24 130
58 - 88
- - 42
157 60 93
275 50 380
58 45 23
59 14 40
39 21 24
83 12 80
85 43 -
150 27 144
152 22 294
50 14 182

Source:! B.L. Stowe MS 570 ff216-19, B.L. Cott M.S. Julian Biv ff95.



The 1628 Survey survey but inexplicably it leaves out some of the Cinque

Ports. Luckily at the Public Record Office the very next
On 14 January 1628 another survey was ordered at the  survey recorded, dated 1629, is of the Cinque Ports and
request of the Privy Council. This again was a nationwide  includes Faversham.

Kent shipping 1628
Port No. of Ships Total Seamen Fishermen Masters
Burden
Northfleet and Gravesend 2 48 8 0 3
Stood 6 158 17 44 5
Chatham 2 60 3 0 2
Gillingham 3 60 9 30 3
Halstow 8 109 21 13 8
Rainham 4 68 10 6 4
Upchurch 3 36 8 30 3
Queenborough 7 126 18 14 5
Sittingbourne 3 58 6 9 2
Milton 20 318 53 48 19
Oore (Nr Faversham) 1 24 1 19 1
Tenham - - — 2 -
High Halstow - - - 4 -
All Hallows - - - 4 -
Whitstable and Seasalter 9 107 27 17 9
Source: PRO SP/16/155 (I-E) p.108.
Cinque port shipping 1629
Port No. of Ships Total Seamen Fishermen Masters Pilots
Burden
Hastings 18 443 88 88 - -
Dover 36 2063 146 33 7 12
Sandwich 26 1684 78 - 18 -
Hythe 4 64 - 43 - -
Rye 4 180 - 52 6 -
Faversham 30 331 72 - 12 -
Folkestone 3 54 6 30 3 -
Lydd 5 10 — 7 5 —
Walmer 2 2 4 2 - -
Deal 5 16 42 - 5 20
Ramsgate 16 356 52 - 16 -
Margate 14 418 58 — 14 9
Broadstairs 9 100 — 69 9 -

Source: PRO SP/16/155 (1-t) pp.108-138.
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In 1566 Faversham (even discounting Whitstable and Swa-
lecliffe which legally were part of the port of Faversham)
had the greatest number of trading ships in Kent, 28 ships
of an average tonnage of 9 tons. In 1629 Faversham was
still pre-eminent in the coasting trade to London. Faver-
sham had 30 ships3 with an average tonnage of 11 tons.
All were called ketches or hoys or just “boates”. Dover,
Sandwich, Margate and Ramsgate were involved in the in-
ternational and collier trade. Dover, with its 36 ships and
“Barques”, had an average of 57, tons although it had ships
of 260, 240 and 160 tons. Sandwich had 26 ships and an
average of 64 tons; its largest ships were one of 200 tons,
one of 80 tons and four of 14 tons. The hoys of Sandwich
are itemised separately, 10 vessels ranging from 40 tons to
8 tons, with an average of 29 tons.

Margate had 14 barques, two of 60 tons and an average
tonnage of 12 tons. Ramsgate had 16 barques, ranging
from 46 tons to 16 tons. Fishing boats and crews are item-
ised separately in the 1629 Cinque Ports survey and enable
us to obtain a concise picture of the fishing industry in
17th-century Kent. Hastings had 176 fishermen, although
no fishing boats are separately recorded, Dover 33 fisher-
men, Hythe 43 fishermen and 12 “small fisherboats” of 3
tons. Rye had 52 fishermen and “small fisherboats, nine
of fowerteen tons”. Thirty fishermen are recorded for
Folkestone, and Lydd had “five fisherboats of two tons”.
Only two boats, each of 1 ton, and two fishermen, are
recorded for Walmer. But at Broadstairs there were nine

fishing boats and sixty-nine fishermen. Out of a total of
870 mariners in the 17th century Cinque Ports 324 were
fishermen. The 1629 survey also indicates the presence of
pilots at Dover (4), Sandwich (12), Margate (9) and Deal,
which had 20, a total of 45 pilots stationed along the coast
of Kent.

The 1701 survey

The survey by the Commissioners of Customs on 24 Janu-
ary 1701 enables a statistical table to be compiled of ships,
men and tonnage in Kent -

Faversham in 1701 was still prominent in the coasting
trade to London. If the totals of Faversham, Whitstable
and Herne are added together, Faversham, the legal port,
was the largest in Kent, with some 65 ships. Ramsgate,
Margate and Sandwich ships were still involved in inter-
national and collier trade with ships of a larger tonnage.
Ramsgate had an enormous number of seamen, 388 for 45
ships, an average of 8 seamen per ship, certainly an indica-
tion of the size of ships. In the early 18th century 8 seamen
would be about the number needed to man a 100-ton ship.
An indication of manning levels can be assessed from the
“Sixpenny Tax Books” operated in the Port of London to
provide funds for Greenwich Hospital.

Faversham on the other hand had an average of two to five
seamen to each ship. Obviously another system was in

Port No. of Ships Tonnage Men Boys
Ramsgate 45 4100 388 -
Margate 37 2909 138 -
Sandwich 21 1146 104 —
Faversham 32 888 22 25
Milton 34 807 53 -
Broadstairs 17 731 90 -
Whitstable/Herne 33 701 11 35
Dover 7 415 44 —
Rye 7 233 8 10
Rochester 3 205 15 -
Deal 1 50 3 -

Source: PRO CO 388/9 part 1 to 73.

Ship’s name No. of men What place Burden Master Where
loaded
Wheatsheaf 9 Ramsgate 100 tons Thomas Carolina
Pierce
Friendship Ramsgate 100 tons John Martin Riga
Endeavour Margate 100 tons  Chris Bayley = Milford
Success Sandwich 80 tons John Raynor  Dunkirk

Source: PRO Adm 68 - 194 January 1725.
32



use, and it was a system of “shift work”. From the early
16th century Faversham seamen had been manning and
sailing in whatever ships were ready.

Throughout the Port Books of Faversham it is apparent
that no ship had a permanent master or crew. It is obvious
that crews were on standby and took out whatever ship
was ready. This was a system to minimise costs to own-
ers and is remarkably modern in its concept. The other
great saving both at Whitstable and Faversham was the
use of apprentice boys to man the ships. Some 60 boys
were employed out of a total crew number of 93 sailors.
No other port in Kent is recorded as employing so many
apprentices,4 apart from ten at Rye. The financial saving
would be enormous; two-thirds of the maritime work force
was for all intents and purposes unpaid at any time.

Coastwise shipping 1709-1751

The following table gives the total tonnage of coasting
vessels belonging to Kent (although the survey covers all
of England, London excepted). It shows not the volume
of coastwise trade, but the actual ships, “accounting each
vessel but once”.

In 1709 Faversham was the 12th port in England for total
tonnage in the coasting trade. Sandwich, Dover and Deal’s
percentage of trade declined from 1709 to 1751. Milton’s
trade peaked from 1730 to 1744 and then went into de-
cline, but Faversham’s and Rochester’s trade crept up and
up. In 1741 Faversham had 21 ships on the register and in

1756 it had 23 ships.

By referring to the coastwise shipping list of 1709-1751
and the Port Book list it is possible to compute an average
tonnage of hoys on the Faversham register. Unfortunately
the Port Books stopped recording the “burthen” of indi-
vidual ships in 1628.

Average tonnage of Faversham hoys in 1580 was 15 tons,
the largest hoys being Grace of God at 30 tons and Anne
Fraunches about 30 tons. The smallest were Rode Goose
and Margett, both at 6 tons. By 1598 the average tonnage
was only 11 tons, with the Hynde at 20 tons and Elizabeth
at 4 tons. In 1598 the six ships of Whitstable had a greater
average tonnage, some 18 tons with the Dolphin at 30
tons. The most likely explanation is that ships trading to
Whitstable didn’t have to negotiate the shallow narrows
of Faversham Creek and consequently could be built or
purchased that much larger. In 1599 17 hoys averaged 12
tons at Faversham, apart from the Prymrose, which was
50 tons.

Again all three hoys of Whitstable were 25 to 30 tons. In
1628 the recording of tonnage in the Port Books stops and
it is necessary to find other sources to confirm average
tonnages of Faversham hoys. The “Sixpenny Tax Books”
show some of the Faversham ships which traded to foreign
ports. Usually a collective tax was paid by the port to the
Commissioners to avoid individual charges on ships. In
1728 Faversham paid £3 19s 9d.

Typical list of different masters to Faversham hoys (in any one year)

Year Vessel Burden Master

1580 Primrose 16 tons

1580 Peter 16 tons

1599 Katherine 12 tons

1679 Rainbow 30 tons

1723 Ruffler 40 tons

1741 Success 80 tons

1756 Providence 70 tons

1765 Restoration 70 tons
Port 1709 1716 1723
Rochester 1363 1336 1300
Faversham 1030 1190 1510
Sandwich 900 930 690
Dover 721 984 482
Milton 275 275 355
Deal 90 180 120

S
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Simon Wyer, John Crowner, Barwick Stevenson
Thomas Quycke, John Dandye, Clement Trowtes
Richard Dryland, Hugh Nethersole, John Frende
William Gyles, James Joakin, William Amery
James Pierce, John Sherwood, John Adrian
Henry Wood, John Iden, Henry Martin

John Pike, Anthony Skinner, John Hunt

Henry Chapman, William Skinner, Isaac Dane

Source: PRO E190 series port books.

1730 1737 1744 1751
1495 1611 1505 2320
1060 910 940 1238
990 1320 1320 780
369 424 254 215
510 490 490 310
120 90 90 60

Source: B.L. Add MSS 11,255.



Number of ships recorded in the Faversham Port Books

Year Faversham Whitstable Herne Ships form other
ports
1569-70 11 (incomplete) 1 (incomplete) - 1
1580-81 22 2 - 27
1598-99 17 6 - 12
1628 16 3 - 23
1640-41 19 4 1 26
1660-61 24 5 1 19
1679-80 28 None recorded None recorded 29
1699-1700 15 5 3 18
1722-23 7 (incomplete) 1 (incomplete) 1 12
1740-41 15 3 3 13
1756-57 17 3 3 41
1765-66 15 4 3 16

Source: PRO E190 series.

Average tonnage of Faversham hoys7

Year Total Tonnage Number of ships and hoys Average tonnage
1580 337 22 15
1598 198 18 11
1599 180 17 12
1628 384 16 24
1709 1030 23 44
1716 1190 9 (incomplete) —
1723 1510 21 71
1730 1060 20 53
1737 910 21 43
1744 940 18 52
1751 1238 23 53
1774 - 29 40 to 150

Source: B.L. Add MSS 11,255 and PRO: E190 series, and Jacob, 1774.

Ship’s name No. of men Of what place Burden Master Date
Norton Court 7 Faversham 110 Thomas Watson Jan 1725
Kent 5 Faversham 40 Henry Martin Jan 1725
Thomas & Elizabeth 3 Faversham 10 William Baldwin Feb 1725
Ruffler 5 Faversham 40 James Pierce Feb 1725
Friends Goodwill 4 Faversham 30 John Adrian Feb 1725
John 5 Faversham 60 John Hall June 1725
Mary 4 Faversham 30 Chris Pratt Sept 1728
Success 6 Faversham 40 George Knight May 1731
Laurel 4 Faversham 50 Thomas Smith Aug 1731

Source: PRO Adm 68-194.
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Edward Jacob in 1774 said, “vessels of eighty tons and up-
wards, (of which size are our present corn hoys) can come
up to the Keys at common tides, at all times; and even
those that do not draw above eight feet water, at common
spring tides” (Jacob, 1774: 64). Hasted in 1778 confirms
Jacob’s size of hoys but goes on to say, “the state of the
shipping in 1778 ... coasting vessels exclusive of fishing
smacks belonging to this port twenty-nine, from forty to
one hundred and fifty tons” (Hasted, 1798: 347). In 1789
William Sumpter, storekeeper to the Faversham Gunpow-
der Works, measured a typical Faversham hoy -

The average tonnage of Faversham hoys had progressed
from the 16th-century average of 12 tons up to the 18th-
century average of 80 tons. The size of ships from Faver-
sham was held down not by technical obstacles, but by
market possibilities; the larger the ship, the greater the

Faversham Hoy (1789)
Length: 56ft Oins
Breadth: 20ft 9 ins
Depth:  10ft Oins

Distribution of English tonnage

risks both of loss and under-utilisation.

Faversham ships were almost exclusively part of the coast-
ing trade, and the coastwise trade was an important part of
English maritime activity.

Faversham seamen

There were 28 masters itemised in the Port Book of 1580,6
which fits well with the 28 masters listed in a certificate of
2nd November 1580.

There is also from 1580 a list7 which itemises 30 owners,
28 masters, 63 servants and 14 apprentices, a grand total
of 135 maritime people. In 1591 there were 45 mariners, 4
shipwrights and 1 surgeon out of 410 mustered men.§

Burden: 90 tons
Draws: 5ft empty and 8 ft loaded

Source: PRO Supp 5-114 p.235.

Year Total tonnage Collier trade Coastwise Newfoundland Other fisheries Foreign trade
trade fisheries
1582 68433 7618 10607 6000 11316 32892
1609-15 101566 28223 15743 13312 14409 29879
1660 161619 70899 25051 20330 3159 42180
1702 267444 78212 41454 16157 8763 122858
1773 581000 125346 89631 38585 23646 303792
Source: Harper, 1939: 339.
Name of hoys Burden (in tons) Owner Masters
Michael 20 John Rokens The same
Ellen 30 Abraham Snoode The same
Mary 30 Richard Padnoll The same
Mary 35 Harry Edwards The same
Prymeroose 35 John Berrye Barwycke Stephens
Dorothye 16 Robert Rye The same
Margarett 8 John Dyxeson The same
John 16 John Trowtes Andrew Clercke
Thomas 22 John Trowtes William Trowtes
Grace of God 30 Thomas Chartham The same
Johanne 25 John Trowtes Jr. The same
Peter 16 Clement Trowtes The same
Black Leache 16 George Bennett The same
Wylliam 8 John Burges The same
Johanne 16 Stephen Ingelsbye The same
Olyfaunte 12 Thomas Bennett The same
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Name of ketches and
fishing boats
Newe Yere
Harte
Barbarge
Anne
Anne
Anne
Susanne
Peter
Edwarde
Cow Tourde
Bobetayele
The Grene Dragon

In 1627 and 1629 a list was prepared of names of sailors
“prest to the ships at Chetham”. The list no longer exists,

Masters and their ships,
Faversham (poss. 1629)

John Trowtes master of the
Allexsander Rye master of the
William Trowtes master of the
John Stuppell master of the
Pantel-Eawrence masterof the
Robert Rye master of the
Abraham Rye master of the
Markes Pearce master of the
Edward Watson master of the
Thomas Michell master of the
Rogger Barthton master of the
John Meese master of the
Idley Hardiman master of the
Thomas Sandares master of the
Markes Ballden master of the
Thomas Askew master of the
Thomas Ballden master of the
Thomas Purnier master of the
John Rockines master of the

Robert Bayley master-of-the

Burden (in tons)

John
Marie
Gift
Elsebeth
John
Feebie
Ann
Mariemarke
Contentt
Ann
Proshorus
Cornasion
Edward
Watt
Edward
Grase
Jonas
William
William

Source: CKS Fa/CPW/68.

Owner Masters

William Trowtes —

Stephen Ingelsbye John Keele
John Skoone The same
John Skoone Henry Mychell

George Michell The same
John Deacon The same
John Deacon John Wilson

Thomas Quicke The same

Thomas Quicke Richard Keele

Thomas Quicke -

John Michell The same

Richard Scottyelde -

Source: CKS CPM 24 ff.5-7 Pat Hyde

but part of it, a list of “the names of the masters of the
hoyes and crayers” does.

Masters, Faversham ships 1627
Thomas Askewe
Marke Balden
Roger Barton
Robert Baylie
Idley Hardyman

William Hilton
Thomas Michell
Thomas Payne
Marke Pierce
John Rockins
Abraham Rye
Robert Rye
Thomas Saunders
John Stupple
Mark Trowtes
William Trowtes
John Watson

Source: CKS Fa/CP23



It compares well with a list of 16 masters compiled from us to define the numbers of masters, fishermen, seamen,
the 1628 Port Book; only 9 names are different but in most  pilots and ships.
cases the family name is the same.

The two surveys of 1628/29 are important in a number
Two surveys of “Ketches and Hoys”9 and Cinque Port  of ways. They give the numbers and tonnage of all ships
shipping in Kent was ordered in 1628 and 1629. It enables  recorded:

A Survey of Ketches and hoys taken 14 January 1628

Port Masters Seamen Fishermen Ketches and hoys
Gravesend 3 8 0 2
Strood 5 17 44 6
Chatham 2 3 0 2
Halstow 8 21 13 8
Rainham 4 10 6 4
Upchurch 3 8 30 3
Queenborough 5 18 14 7
Sittingbourne 2 6 9 3
Milton 19 53 58 20
Oore 1 1 19 1
Tenham - - 2 —
High Halstow - - 4 -
All Hallows — - 4 —
Whitstable and Seasalter 9 27 17 9

Source: PRO SP/16/155 (I-E) p.108.

A Survey of Cinque Port shipping taken 14 January 1629

Port Masters Seamen  Fishermen Pilots Ships and barques
Hastings - 88 88 - 18 barques

Dover 7 146 33 4 36 ships & barques
Sandwich 18 78 - 12 16 ships & 10 hoys
Hythe - 43 7? - 4 boats & 12 fishing boats
Rye 6 — 52 - 4 barques & 9 fishing boats
Faversham 12 72 - - 30 boats

Folkestone 3 6 30 - 3 boats

Lydd 5 - 7 - 5 fishing boats

Walmer — 4 2 - 2 fishing boats

Deal 5 42 - 20 5 boats

Ramsgate 16 52 - - 16 barques

Margate 14 58 - 9 14 barques

Broadstairs 9 — 69 9 fishing boats

Source: PRO SP/16/155(1-t) pp.108-138.

Faversham survey of 1628/29

Boats — 3012

Four of 20 tons One of 18 tons Seamen — 60
Five of 16 tons Three of 12 tons Masters — 12
Three of 25 tons Two of 4 tons

One of 30 tons Two of 2 tons
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The survey also breaks down the maritime workforce into
masters, sailors, mariners, gunners, fishermen, pilots. For
Faversham we have 12 masters, but add Whitstable and
the total rises to 21, a number which reflects the trend from
1580 onwards and confirms Edward Crow’s survey which
indicates a drop in population and no doubt maritime ac-
tivity in Faversham during the 17th century.

Up to now all surveys have only considered the ships and
masters. With the 1629 surveys an indication of the ratio
of seamen to masters and ships can be formulated.

This makes a total maritime workforce of 128 (including
17 fishermen). Edward Crow indicates a total population
in 1695 of 1085 inhabitants. Clark suggests a ratio of 5.75
people per family (Clark, 1993: 771). If this is the case,

Faversham
Whitstable and Swalecliffe

The port of Faversham

Occupations 1619-60
Mariners 35
Malsters 10
Vintners 8
Blacksmiths 7
Carpenters 4
Brewers 4
Maltmen 3
Shipwrights 3
Sawyers 2
Coopers 2
Innholders 2
Others 91

there would be 188 families to compare with 128 seamen.
Over 60% of families would include a seaman, given of
course there was only one seaman per family. To reinforce
the hypothesis that Faversham had many more mariners
than has been suggested before, it is necessary to refer to
the marriage licences issued from 1619 to 1700. About
171 Faversham people married between 1619-60, about
126 between 1661-76 and 138 between 1677-1700.

By far the largest number of marriage licences were is-
sued to mariners, reflecting the importance of ships and
shipping to Faversham. Edward Jacob in 1774 said, when
talking about the oyster fishery, “by which not less than
one hundred and ten families are principally supported and
the whole town much benefited” (Jacob, 1774: 75).

12 masters, 72 seamen, 30 boats

9 masters, 18 seamen, 17 fishermen, 9 hoys

21 masters, 90 seamen, 39 boats and hoys

1661-76 1677-1700
33 49
8 3
1 1
1 4
5 9
2 2
1 3
2 5
1 2
1 2
4 4
67 54

Source: Cowper, 1895; FIJM December 1898 p.117, Oct 1896, p.402, April 1895 p.322.

1 The seven commissioners for Kent were Sir William Brooke; Lord
Cobham; Sir Thomas Cotton; Thomas Wotton, Sheriff of Kent in 1558
and 1578; Sir Thomas Scott; Humfrey Hales of Canterbury; William
Cromer, MP for Hythe, and John Tufton.

2 This survey was utilised and itemised by Hasted in introducing ports
and landing places in his Topographical Survey of Kent, 1797-1801.

3 Although in 1628 only 16 ships are itemised in the Port Books as actu-
ally trading (PRO E190/656/6).

4 In 1704 an Act was passed binding poor boys of Faversham parish to
become apprentices to seamen. The law required the boys to be regis-
tered at the Custom House, by which they were free from the tax paid by
seamen to the merchant seaman’s fund of Greenwich Hospital (Crow E.,
1855: 53).

5 P120 E190 series.

6 PRO E190/641/13.

7 CKS Fa/CPM 33.
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8 CKS Fa/CPM 16A.
9 This survey was ordered by Lord Walsingham and covers all of Eng-
land including all the ships in London on 14th January 1628.



Chapter 10 The oyster and fishing fleets

Two surveys, one in 1566 and the other in 1628, give a
good indication of the development of fishing in Kent. In
1566 of the 20 ports and landing places, 17 list fishing as
the main employment of their fleet: Hythe: Folkestone:
Dover: Sandwich: Ramsgate: Broadstairs: Margate:
Whitstable: Swalecliffe and Herne: Faversham: Queen-
borough: Milton: Upchurch: Halstow: Gillingham: and
Rochester. Hythe had four crayers! of 60 tons, three cray-
ers of 30 tons, eight shotters2 of 15 tons, and 18 tramelers3
of 5 tons. Hythe fishermen were “persons belonginge to
these Crayers and other boates for the most parte occupied
in fishinge - 160”. Folkestone had 25 ships or boats with
25 fishermen, Broadstairs had 40 fishermen, Milton 24.4

Although it is impossible to itemise the exact numbers of
fishermen in Kent, the survey of 1566 certainly indicates
that fishing was one of the most important activities of the
maritime community. However, the Privy Council survey
of 14 January 1628 itemises exactly the number of mari-
ners involved in fishing.

Milton fishermen - 48
Strood fishermen - 44
Gillingham fishermen - 30
Upchurch fishermen - 30

Oore (Nr Faversham)
Whitstable and Seasalter

Queenborough fishermen - 14
Halstow fishermen - 13
Sittingbourne fishermen - 9
Rainham fishermen - 6
High Halstow fishermen - 4
All Hallows fishermen - 4
Tenham fishermen - 2
Chatham fishermen - 0
Northfleet and Gravesend fishermen - 0
(PRO SP/16/155 (I-E p.108).

Hastings fishermen - 176
Broadstairs fishermen - 69
Rye fishermen - 52
Hythe fishermen - 43
Dover fishermen - 33
Folkestone fishermen - 30
Lydd fishermen - 7
Sandwich fishermen - 0
Faversham fishermen - 0

fishermen - 19
fishermen - 17

(PRO SP/16/155 (I-t) pp.108-38).
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It also itemises the number of fishing boats for some of the
main fishing ports:

Hythe, small fisherboats, twelve of 3 tons.
Rye, small fisherboats, nine of 14 tons.

Lydd, fisherboats, five of 2 tons.

Walmer, boats, two of 1 ton.

Broadstairs, fisherboats, two of 18 tons,

one of 20 tons, one of 14 tons, one of 12 tons,
one of 10 tons, one of 8 tons.

It is probable that some fishermen are not listed, Faver-
sham, for instance in 1628 is listed as having no fishermen,
yet Oare and Whitstable, both part of the port of Faver-
sham have 19 and 17 fishermen respectively. Yetin 1631,
when there was a great scarcity of fish, Faversham fisher-
men, amongst others, were accused of using the wrong
size nets. On 17th June 1635 Sir Dudley Digges wrote to
the Lords of the Admiralty on the behalf of the fishermen
of Faversham,5 and three days later Edward Nicholas, the
secretary to the Lords of the Admiralty, made a note that
all the nets which the Faversham fishermen used were
within the law and could be returned to the fishermen.

In the 16th century, with the flurry of excitement over the
possibility of war with Spain, numerous shipping lists
were drawn up for Faversham, and out of those it is pos-
sible to itemise the type of fishing craft in use:

“Henrye Atkyns hath one Crayer, the Mychell of Faver-
sham, xvj6 Toones, kept in the Cryke of Faversham, Henry
Atkyns, Master and Willyam Freman an Apprentysse, also
Thomas Quycke hathe one Munger called The Edwarde of
Faversham, viij7 Toones, in the same Cryke, John Sooyle
Master, with An Apprentysse”8 18 Feb 1586.

“One little dredginge boat callyd ye Anne of the Burden of
iiij Tonnes, John Skoone (owner) Harrie Michell master.
One little fisher boate callyd ye Anne of the Burden of fower
tonnes, Gregorie Michell master and owner. One little
dredginge Cocke9 callyd the Cow Tourdel0 of ye burden
of ij tonnes, Thomas Quycke owner. One dredginge boate
callyd the Newe Yere of the Burden of iiij Tonnes, William
Trowtes owner.”11 1580.

Several types of vessels are enumerated. The largest were
crayers of 16 tons, followed by mungers of 8 tons and
dredging cocks of 2 tons. The distinction between them,
apart from size, was primarily one of function. The cray-
ers were used for trade and deep-sea fishing, the other ves-
sels for various methods of fishing. To what extent they
differed in appearance as well is uncertain. A good refer-
ence for the rig of 16th-century fishing vessels along the
Kent coast can be found on a map of Rye Harbour made



by John Prouse in 1572. It illustrates at least four differ-
ent types of vessel from fully rigged ships to small rowed
fishing boats. Lovegrove suggests the ships shown off
Winchelsea, clinker built with a raised poop deck and aft
cabin, sprit mainsail and a small mizzen, are crayers and
the smaller, undecked vessels, square-rigged on a single
mast can be identified as mungers, hookers and tramellers
(Lovegrove,1947: 187-98).

Faversham wills

The bequests made by Faversham fishermen often go
into quite considerable detail and, taken in conjunction
with other evidence, they make it possible to reconstruct
the working of the fishing industry at Faversham in some
detail.

“An inventory of sartayn goodes of Father Moreis” (1572)12

Item iiij heringe neets with the corkes and all at ij8 the pece

Item more another rope

Item vij mackerrell nettes at ijs and vjd the pece
Item more on other roope

Item a herringe nett with a new deppinge

Item more the ebinge boate with her gere

Item ij new dippinges of heringe nett

Item a third parte of a boate

Item a ringe

Summa totalis

“An inventory of William Borset”

Item viii lynnes

Item v fare14 of flewel5 netts

Item iiij Feare of shott16 netts

Item iij roppe

Item ij barrells of salte iv drove barres

Item a dredge

Item vij barrells of herrynge

Item halfe a botte called the Peter with her apparrell

“An inventory of Humphrey Tylman, sayler”

Item half a cockbote with hyr apparell

Item iv fare of fluse netts

Item v fare of shot netts

Item a maunde18 of harbees19, v lynes of small hookes

Item vi roopes

“An inventory of John Bennet, sayler”20
Item the coake boat with ssaylers and ropes

2 ankers, 1 dreg, 1 trall, 2 owres
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viijs
6s
XVijs 6d
ijs vjd
Vs
XXXS
Vijs
viij£
viijs
xij£ iiijs
xiiis ivd
iiif vis viiid
xLs
xiis
vis ivd
iijs viijd
iij£ vis
xviij£
vE XS
Viij£ iijs
vE
Xivs ivd
XXS
Vi€



The most valuable single item of equipment bequeathed
was normally the boat, the ebbing boat of Father Moreis
worth 30 shillings, the cockboat of John Bennett worth
6 pounds. It was quite usual to own half a boat; shared
ownership was a form of insurance and to share the cost
of a new boat was the usual procedure amongst the fishing
fraternity.

Six different types of net and two types of line were in
use. Flews and shot-nets were bequeathed by a majority
of fisherman; sprat and tramell-nets were also in common
use; and deeping and seine-nets occur occasionally as do
“creke” hooks and smaller hooks.

The use of this equipment and the routine of the fishing
year can be ascertained by comparison with other fishing
ports along the Channel. In Brighton the fishing year was
divided into fishing seasons called “fares”, some for local
inshore fishing and some for deep water (Webb & Wilson,
1952). Some eight “fares” or seasons were also followed
by Hythe, Rye, St Peters in Thanet and most, if not all,
were followed by Whitstable and Faversham.12

Plaice were caught with trammel-nets and draw nets. The
boats used were small, 4 to 5 tons, and would have a crew
of up to seven men (Baines, 1955: 227). The nets were
some 2 miles in length and consisted of a triple wall of
mesh, resting on the bottom and catching bottom-feeding
fish such as plaice and soles. It was a complex, vulnerable
and expensive adoption of the drift nets used to catch her-
ring and mackerel and shows the conservation attitudes of
Kentish fishing communities who persisted in using it long
after the introduction of the more economical and effective
trawl.13 The larger Faversham fishing boats, the crayer
Michael (16 tons), would drift for mackerel until early
summer and then head north to catch herring. In the 16th
century Father Moreis’s “iij heringe nettes with corkes and
all at ij the pece”14 would probably have been used to

catch bait for the lines with which they fished for cod.

Faversham fishermen would join the other Cinque Ports
fishermen for the six-week season at Yarmouth Fair.15
The type and variety of fish caught by Faversham fisher-
men can be ascertained from the early rules of the Oyster
Fishery Company’s, inventories and wills.

Father Moreis’s inventory of 1572-74 itemises herring,
mackerel, William Borset’s itemises lynne and herring and
Humphrey Tylman itemises “harbees” and “lynes”. The
1599 oyster fishery rules state: “trout and salmon not to
be fished out of season, trammel nets must have a mesh of
21/2in and no tramelling for sole or plaice out of season.”
The seasons were “from the 15 March till the feast of All
Saints (1st November) between the sun rising and the sun
setting.”’16

Barrels of herring and salmon are itemised in the Town
Porter’s charges from the 15th century and are a major
item of import and export. Herring fishing evolved into
a purely Kentish industry and apart from the North Sea
catches herrings would be fished between the Galloper and
Kentish Knock sands. It was possible to catch 500 to 600
herring on a tide. These usually were full sized and clearly
or in the majority of cases, shotten17 fish.18

Defoe noted salmon was carried to London in “fresh” con-
dition by land carriage from Kent and Essex, “so that the
fish came very sweet and good to London”, but this care-
ful handling came, not unnaturally very expensive, “being
often sold at two shilling and six pence to four shilling per
pound” (Defoe D. 1726). Salmon would make their way
up the Thames Estuary to spawn in the Rivers Thames,
Medway and Stour. The last salmon caught commercially
before rising pollution levels extinguished the fishing, was
on June 18th, 1833 (Murie, 1903: 75).

Crayers: used for trade and deep sea fishing.

Shotters: fishing boats which used shoot-nets.

Tramelers: fishing boats which used trammel-nets.

B.L. Stowe MS 570 (H216-19).

PRO SP16/290 fol.230.

16 tons.

8 tons.

PRO P/SP 12/198 no.47.

9 Cockboat, any small boat. Ciscokbote, perhaps ultimately from Late
Latin caudica, dug-out canoe, from Latin caudex, tree trunk.

10 Cow Tourde or Cow Turd, no doubt a reflection on the vessel’s sail-
ing abilities.

11 CKS Fa/CPM 24.

12 CKS Ac/1/22.

13 PRO, S.P.D., lJas I, XCI, No.12.

14 PRO 10/7 folio 58 p.115.

15 H.M.C. Fourth Report (1874) App. 435.

16 Old M.S. Records held amongst the Faversham Borough Archives at
the Alexander Centre, Preston Street, Faversham.

17 Herring. Having ejected the spawn and of little food value.

0NN W~

18 Murie J. 1903, unpublished document, Report on the Sea Fisheries
and Fishing Industries of the Thames Estuary pp.73-5



Chapter 11, Maritime aspects of Faversham’s gunpowder industry

Ports to which they Commanders names

Names of the sloop

Burden of the vessel  Times of their

belong or vessel in tons appointment
Faversham Robert Pizing Edward and Sarah 40 27 may 1762

Ditto. Robert Pizing Townshend 40 1 October 1776

To whom they belong Station No. of mariners Observations

Messer Brown Between Faversham Two The Edward and Sarah were discharged the
and Bassett and the Tower Two service 30 September 1776 and the Townsh-

Faversham had a substantial gunpowder manufactory
from 1554 (Percival, A. 1967). Gunpowder relied on three
ingredients in varied measures of mix for its combus-
tion. Charcoal provided carbon, saltpetre the oxygen and
sulphur or brimstone, ignition and combustion. Saltpetre
could be mined as a natural product and was imported
as grough petre by the East India Company and stored
in London. The Ordnance Office bought a supply on an
annual basis after sampling and collected it from the East
India Company’s warehouses at Rotherhithe, or if urgently
required direct from the company ships as they arrived in
London.

Sulphur was imported from Italy and stored at the Tower
and subsequently shipped down to the mills at Faver-
sham. 1

Ships were leased to transport gunpowder from Faversham
to the magazines at Upnor, Greenwich, Purfleet, Wool-
wich, the Tower and occasionally Hythe. On average two
ships were leased but in times of national emergency extra
ships would be hired. On return from London ships would
carry ordinance stores, sulphur and saltpetre and also gun-
powder for drying and reprocessing. In January 1775, the
records show that two ships were “on the books”:

“An account of the sloops and vessels employed in Faver-
sham between the 1st January 1775 and January 1777

Edward and Sarah in her last year (1776) shipped to
Purfleet some 3,897 barrels of gunpowder. Her largest
cargo was 243 barrels on 29 May 1775 and her smallest
80 barrels on 15 October 1774, the average cargo being
194 barrels. On most trips the Edward and Sarah returned
with about 10 tons of saltpetre. On 15 September 1776 the
contract “for the powder boat with Thomas Rigden and
Martha Bassett sent to the Ordnance Board, the old pow-
der vessel called the Edward and Sarah discharged and a
new one (The Lord Townshend) taken into service.”2 The
hire of the Edward and Sarah was £190 per annum and of
the new Townshend £292.
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end in her stead
Royal Powder Mills Faversham 4 January 17772

Edward and Sarah towards the end of her life became
“leaky and much out of repair, the owners sent her to Mar-
gate to be refitted.” As well as the Townshend the Ord-
nance Board on 11 August 1777 took on the Marlborough
hoy and sent it to Faversham. Unfortunately the vessel
didn’t have a “platform”, presumably to keep the powder
dry, and was detained whilst one was built. Draft was a
constant problem at Faversham quays, and the Ordnance
Board were reminded: “I beg leave to inform you that
no vessel drawing more than 5 feet when loaded can lie
alongside of the lower bridges to discharge a cargo, except
four days in a fortnight and that those days are when high
water happens between the hours of twelve and half past
three.”3

Dangers of transporting gunpowder

The other problem was the proximity of the gunpowder
hoy to the town. Up to 1786 the powder hoys used Faver-
sham Creek, anchored below the Narrows and waited for
the barge carrying over 100 barrels of gunpowder to leave
Gunpowder Dock or Ordnance Wharf (at the rear of the
present Co-op superstore) and come downstream to load
on to the powder hoy (Fig. 75).

In 1776 Faversham Corporation presented a petition to the
Ordnance Board:

“That his Majestys Powder Barge generally laden with more
than one hundred barrals of gunpowder, in its way from
the works to the Powder vessel, passes by several houses,
wharfs, and storehouses in the town of Faversham and in
consequence of the narrowness of the channel, the largeness
of the barge and the difficulty it very often meets with on
that account to pass by other vessels is often obliged to lie in
the creek of Faversham adjoining to the said town a tide or
two, exposed to the attempts of strangers, and consequently
liable to be set on fire in the night time by malicious or dis-
affected people passing that way .... That in the late severe
weather the barge being unable to proceed, remained in the
said creek during the whole time of the frost, loaded with its



usual quantity of gunpowder, to the great terror of the own-
ers of hoys and other vessels then laying in the said creek,
and of the occupiers of the adjacent houses, storehouses
and other building in the said town.... That the gunpowder
vessel commonly lies in the Creek of Faversham at a small
distance from the said town, in a narrow part of the chan-
nel and the corn hoys and other vessels going to and from
Faversham, which have fireplaces therein and on board of
which tobacco is smoked, pass by very close to the same
gunpowder vessel should take fire and be blown up not only
the craft and the said creek, but the lower part of the town
would receive very great damage.”

The petition continues: “that the gunpowder magazine
may not be placed so close to the town and that the size
of the gunpowder barge to be so reduced as to enable it to
proceed immediately from the works to the vessel without
interruption or delay.”

The petition ends by suggesting that the gunpowder vessel
should anchor lower down at Hollow Shore, “where there
is a safe and commodious Bay proper for the same near to
a place there called Holly Shore.”4

The Ordnance Board responded by saying they had con-
tracted with a Mr Jefferys to build a canal to convey the
powder to an island in the upper works where they would
have built a safe and secure magazine but apparently Jef-
ferys had been persuaded by the townspeople not to give
his consent. Regarding the powder barge it was deemed
essential to convey powder from the magazine to the wait-
ing powder vessel by barge, but the master had positive
orders to anchor as far away from the town as possible but
in the “late severe weather and when the wind is high he
is obliged to come nearer the town than we could wish he
did, as our barge is built so narrow for the purpose of pass-
ing through the town sluice that in windy weather when
she gets much below the town she is totally ungovernable
which obliges the master of the vessel to approach nearer
the town then otherwise would.”5

Gunpowder barge design

In 1788 designs for two barges were drawn up. The di-
mensions for the powder barge6 were 62 ft long, 12 ft 6 ins
wide and 3 ft 6 ins deep. The other was a coal barge and
was 70 ft long, 12 ft 6 ins wide and 3 ft 6 ins deep. It was
noted whether “the sterns of the barges had better be made
nearly like the head, or the common square sterns and if
the sides should be flush planking or shingled. P.S. The
rudder of the coal barge must be contrived to take off.”7

The search for a new site for the magazine continued, and
in 1776 Bartholmew Bennett reported to the Ordnance
Board:

43

“I have carefully examined every part of the premises at
present belonging to your Honours as well as the creek lead-
ing from the mills by the town of Faversham, and there is
a great traffic from the mouth of the creek to the town and
men daily employed in hauling of vessels up and down the
creek... but there is another creek that leads up to the village
of Oare where there is no other traffic, then to the merchants
powder mills who ship their powder off there... and found
a very proper place to build the magazine and where the
powder may be shipped at the wharf of the magazine, and
have but a little way to be conveyed to the sea, where as in
Faversham creek the vessel being obliged to come so far to
take powder in and the distance being near three miles from
the entrance the vessel is often detained three or four days
before she can get out, and at neap tides, there is not water
enough to carry the powder down to the vessel, but in the
place I have mentioned she can in spring tides load at the
magazine wharf and at the lowest neap tides the barge may
come to the magazine and convey it to the vessel, which has
nothing to obstruct her sailing immediatly with it.”’8

By 1786 at the new Marsh Works there would be built a
network of canals, gunpowder mills, stores and magazine.
The gunpowder punts would approach the creek on an
elevated canal9 built over the creek on a dressed stone
platform, a crane with a pallet would unload directly onto
the waiting gunpowder vessel below which, as it rose and
fell with the tide, would be connected to the dock by a
hinged platform.

With the choosing of a new site for a wharf the question
arose whether a barge or carvel round-bottomed vessel
should be used. Richard Webb of the Ordnance Office
was

“of the opinion there was little difference whether built,
purchased or hired between a round or flat bottomed ves-
sel, a barge is a flat bottomed vessel, the same as a floor of
a room, timbers is like joysts under the floor and about the
same distance, those are not above 5 inches thick, which
lying straight and being fastened to the external planks in
the bottom and the inside lining forms a thickness of about
9 inches which, if more water gets into the vessel than the
whole ground tier; must be damaged by water exclusive of
the vessel heeling under sail; and though a barge may mostly
go through what we call the Grounds, that is with (inside)
the island (Sheppey), yet she must go round the Nore or over
the Spit up and down Sea-Reach either to Gravesend or any
other place of delivery in the River Thames a part of Naviga-
tion which in my opinion they are by no means with safety
calculated for insomuch that I never thought it safe to send
a barge round the Medway in the winter season much less to
employ such craft in that navigation the whole year.

“A round botched vessel can carry on the duty, when a flat
one must be still, and with greater safety, for should a barge



miss stays or otherwise get on a steep shore, she must heel to
the ground and if a hard shore, large stones may go through
her bottom or grounding on anchors which lie very thick in
Faversham creek may sink her; all of which is liable to be
avoided in a round bodied vessel, which lies all her weight
on her keel, floor; and futtock timbers, which almost forms
one body of wood moulded 8 or 9 inches.”10

William Sumpter, storekeeper at Faversham in October
1789, actually measured a Faversham sailing hoy and
decked barge:

“Agreeably to your desire I have made enquiry respecting
a new construction for powder hoys at this place, and have
procured the dimensions and tonnage of one of the Faver-
sham hoys and also a decked sailing barge, both employed
in carrying corn to London which are as follows:

Faversham hoy (1789)11

Length 56 feet 0 inches

Burden 90 tons

Breadth 20 feet 9 inches

Draws 5 feet of water empty and 8 feet loaded
Depth 10 feet 0 inches

Decked sailing barge (1789)

Length 65 feet

Burden 83 tons

Breadth 19 feet

Draws 21/2 feet water empty and 5 feet loaded

“Our present powder vessel [Townshend]12 is about forty
tons burden, draws five feet water in ballast and six feet
when loaded with 300 barrels of powder.”

Interestingly the Townshend needed to sail in ballast when
empty, indicating certainly a fully sparred ship with plenty
of canvas. William Sumpter goes on to describe an eye-
witness account of Faversham Creek in the 18th century:

“I have consulted several persons acquainted with the Navi-
gation of Faversham and Ore creeks who are of the opinion
that the vessels to be employed at these mills should not be
more than 60 tons burden with roomy hold, and the draught
of water not to exceed 6 feet, as it would be found very diffi-
cult to get larger vessels between the great number of fishing
boats that usually lie at the mouth of Ore creek and also up
the narrow parts thereof.

“As the Service of this place will require two vessels to
be stationed here when the extracting and refining buis-
ness opens up, I am of the opinion that only one of them
should be of the above description, as we should find great
convenience in having the other a decked sailing barge of
about 60 tons burden, which at Spring tides would bring
freights of Brimstone and such other articles as much come
up Faversham Creek so as to deliver them close to the Works
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and therefore save the trouble of lighterage. It is however
necessary to point out that the present bridge o